https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5162

Alternative liquid fuels: achievements and prospects

Pavel A. Strizhak,^a [®] * Sergey M. Aldoshin,^b [®] Dmitry O. Glushkov,^a [®] Konstantin I. Dement'ev,^c [®] Elena N. Ivashkina,^a [®] Mayya V. Kulikova,^c [®] Anton L. Maximov,^c [®] Galina Yu. Nazarova,^a [®] Aleksandr S. Noskov,^d [®] Valentin N. Parmon,^d [®] Kristina K. Paushkina,^a [®] Evgeniy V. Popok,^a [®] Aleksandr S. Sviridenko,^a [®] Leonid S. Yanovsky^{a,b} [®]

^a National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University, 634050 Tomsk, Russia

^b Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry,

Russian Academy of Sciences, 142432 Chernogolovka, Moscow Region, Russia

^c A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis, Russian Academy of Sciences, 119071 Moscow, Russia

^d Federal Research Center Boreskov Institute of Catalysis, Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy

of Sciences, 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia

The development of alternative liquid fuels based on renewable and secondary carbon-containing feedstocks is of strategic importance due to growing shortage of fossil resources and increasingly stringent environmental requirements. This review analyzes the current state of research in the field of alternative liquid fuels for engine and power systems. The most significant achievements and limitations that hinder the extensive practical use of biofuel compositions are outlined. The nomenclature of raw materials is defined. The requirements to the main properties of components of alternative liquid fuels are formulated. The most promising production processes are characterized. The possibility of integration of hybrid engineering solutions into existing plants is substantiated, considering multicriteria selection of components and catalysts, which opens up new prospects for the development and scaling of sustainable fuel systems. The techno-economic and environmental features of the thermal conversion of fuels in engine and power systems are identified.

The bibliography includes 410 references.

Keywords: alternative liquid fuels, biofuels, vegetable oils,

esters, alcohols, industrial and agricultural wastes, synthesis, catalysts, transesterification, cracking, hydroprocessing, properties, thermal conversion characteristics, emission, pilot tests, multicriteria analysis.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Raw materials and categorization	
of alternative liquid fuels	3
3. Synthesis technologies	4
3.1. Transesterification	4
3.2. Synthesis of liquid hydrocarbons from biomass and	carbons 5
3.3. Processing of alternative feedstocks	
by catalytic cracking	9
3.4. Hydroprocessing of vegetable oils	
and their mixtures with petroleum fractions	12
3.5. Production of liquid fuels and olefins	
by hydroprocessing of polymer waste	13
3.6. Synthesis of biofuel components from alcohols	17
3.6.1. Synthesis of alcohols	17
3.6.2. Conversion of alcohols to hydrocarbons	18
3.7. Application of alcohols and ethers	20

4. Energy, environmental, and techno-economic prospects	21
4.1. Properties of fuel blends	21
4.2. Testing of biofuels for land and water transport	22
4.3. Testing of biofuels for aviation	24
5. Conclusion	26
6. Acknowledgments	27
7. List of abbreviations and symbols	27
8. Information about the authors	27
9. References	28

Translation: Z.P.Svitanko



1. Introduction

The natural and technological challenges stimulated the formation of a large research area related to the development of alternative liquid fuels composed of petroleum and nonpetroleum components.¹ These fuels are called liquid fuel blends and categorized as first-, second-, and third-generation fuels.² The main incentive for the development of these processes is to tackle global-scale challenges related to the environmental protection³ (reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, disposal of industrial and municipal waste, release of areas occupied by this waste), energy generation⁴ (increase in the calorific value of fuels, minimization of underburning, reduction of the consumption), economy (expansion of the range of raw materials, decrease in the cost of generated energy, development of new processes and upgrading of the existing processes for raw material conversion), and geopolitics (development of the fuel and energy sector relying on the resources available in particular region, increase in the energy and technology selfsustainability of regions and countries).5

Analysis of statistical data (Fig. 1)⁶⁻⁸ provided the conclusion that in the next five years, the demand for biofuels would exceed 38 billion liters,⁹ and the global consumption of biofuels would reach 17% by 2025.¹⁰ The largest amounts of biofuels in the world are produced in the US and Brazil. The United States account for 48% of the global biofuel production, and approximately 28% of biofuels are produced in Brazil.⁷ It is worth noting that the major product is ethanol, which accounts for 66% of the whole biofuel production, while biodiesel produced by transesterification accounts for 28%, and the production of renewable diesel by hydrocracking makes 6%.⁸

The fuel components include² wastes from coal beneficiation, oil refining, polymer processing, agriculture, and wood processing industry; used industrial oils, vegetable oils (rapeseed, tall, cameline, palm, olive, sunflower, and jatropha oils), fatty acid esters, process effluents, resins, cooking fats, silt and hydrate deposits, and microalgae. The following processes are considered to be most promising for the production of alternative liquid fuels:¹¹ transesterification,¹² catalytic cracking,¹³ hydrocracking,¹⁴ and Fischer–Tropsch synthesis (FTS).¹⁵ Attempts have been made to develop hybrid processes (as several stages to prepare a set of useful intermediates and final products) based on the above-



Figure 1. Statistics of biofuel production in the world.^{6–8}

mentioned reactions, with the key input parameters being varied over wide ranges.¹⁶

Alternative liquid fuels are meant for power installations and land, marine, and aircraft engine systems. Biodiesel fuels,¹⁷ biogasolines,¹⁸ and biokerosenes¹⁹ are widely known. In practice, the most stringent requirements to the fuel quality are imposed on biokerosene, which is called sustainable aviation fuel (SAF; this term, approved by the International Civil Aviation Organization, defines a group of low-carbon aviation fuels that make it possible to reduce the anthropogenic impact on the environment).²⁰ Recently, the results of experimental²¹⁻²⁵ and theoretical ²⁶⁻²⁸ studies of the properties and characteristics of the thermal conversion of SAF fuels have been reported. Great expectations are associated with a decrease in the anthropogenic emissions to the atmosphere from the engine systems of passenger and cargo aircrafts that use such fuels. It was shown²⁹ that the use of mixtures of Jet A-1 fuel with a synthetic component reduces the concentrations of anthropogenic emissions by 50-70% compared to those for petroleum-based jet fuels. The use of these fuels in combination with hybrid electrical systems^{20,30} and solar batteries³¹ appears promising.

An obvious advantage of the prospective synthetic fuels compared to other energy sources is that they can be used without significant changes in the design of installation fuel systems or the ground fuelling infrastructure. During the last 20 years, there have been several hundred thousand flights using alternative jet fuels.³² The first biofuel flight was made from London to Amsterdam in 2008 using a mixture of 80% petroleum-based fuel and 20% coconut oil biofuel.33 Promising synthetic fuels for engines have been obtained from microalgae,^{34,35} sugar cane,³⁶ liquid hydrocarbons, in particular, diesel fuel and biodiesel,25 sewage sludge,21 animal fats and vegetable oils,37-39 municipal waste,37 and genetically modified organisms.40 The international commitments20 adopted by developed countries indicate that by 2050, greenhouse gas emissions should be half those of 2005. It is expected²⁰ that the demand for aviation fuel will reach 850 million tonnes by 2050. Large-scale use of synthetic fuels will be necessary to meet CO₂ reduction requirements in the long term.

The use of blended fuels and their mixtures requires the knowledge of their properties, characteristics of thermal conversion during combustion, gasification, and pyrolysis, as well as the operating parameters of the corresponding facilities. Pyrolysis processes of polycyclic hydrocarbons of biological origin have been studied;^{41–43} the kinetics of pyrolysis and combustion of farnesane, α -farnesene, and β -farnesene, which can be used as components of jet biofuels, has been determined.^{44,45}

Pyrolysis of *p*-menthane, an isoprenoid hydrocarbon that is added to fuels to increase the energy density and fluidity, has been investigated.⁴⁶ The integrated task is to develop synthetic fuels that would meet a wide range of requirements to performance characteristics (as a rule, 30 to 50 specification values). Attempts have been made to take into account the set of imposed requirements using multi-attribute optimization³⁴ and multicriteria methods⁴⁷ for the choice of components and their concentrations. The research in the field of synthetic liquid fuels covers the following stages: justification of choice of raw materials and synthesis processes, production, stabilization, storage, transportation, atomization, combustion, and emission neutralization and disposal.

The preparation of synthetic fuels at oil refining plants is performed using complex multistage processes including production and mixing of hydrocarbon streams involving various fractions from extensive crude oil processing such as catalytic cracking and hydrocracking.⁴⁸ It is difficult to take into account the non-additivity of main chemmotological characteristics of fuel quality and the content of basic components, which often leads to lower product quality and higher production costs due to excessive consumption of expensive components. The fuel composition should be calculated and optimized with allowance for the mixing parameters; this would reduce the amount of substandard fuel and decrease consumption of expensive components such as alkylated and isomerized products and functional additives. The task becomes even more complicated when dealing with synthetic fuels. One way to increase the energy and resource efficiency of the production of high-octane fuels for various purposes taking into account the physicochemical regularities of each production stage is to optimize and predict the operating conditions of multistage processes by testing the integral characteristics of heat and mass transfer, atomization, ignition, combustion, and coking. In view of diversity of the applied feedstocks and importance of simultaneous control over a number of quality characteristics of the fuel, it is necessary to arrange problem-oriented laboratories and industry centres intended for integrated estimation of characteristics for the main life cycle stages of components and the synthesized alternative fuels using as small amount of the fuels (produced in small amounts) as possible and short testing times. The foundation of such laboratories requires, first of all, raw material optimization in terms of components, catalysts, and additives, the main production processes, properties and characteristics, and technoeconomic evaluation of the cost efficiency. It is important to organize cooperation of leading research groups for each stage of the life cycle to combine efforts and apply the best technological solutions. In the Russian Federation, this task has not yet been ultimately solved. It is expedient to analyze the achievements of relevant research groups and common challenges that can be overcome together and thus produce effective (in terms of the set of the key criteria) commercial components and fuel blends. This motivated us to write the present review.

The purpose of this review is to integrate the known data of theoretical and experimental studies and different-scale tests and use the results for defining the most promising trends for the production and consumption of alternative liquid fuels considering the latest achievements in science and technology.

2. Raw materials and categorization of alternative liquid fuels

Alternative liquid fuels are mixtures composed of renewable natural raw materials (biofuels)⁴⁹⁻⁵⁷ and mixtures synthesized

Table 1.	Biofuel	production	processes.69,70
----------	---------	------------	-----------------

Process	Feedstock	Product	
Transesterification	Vegetable oils, animal fats	Fatty acid methyl esters	
Hydroprocessing (hydro-oxygenation, hydrotreating, hydrocracking)	Vegetable oils, animal fats	Biodiesel	
Fermentation	Sugar (sugar cane, sugar beet)	Bioethanol	
Enzymatic degradation followed by fermentation	Starch (corn, wheat)	Bioethanol	
Enzymatic degradation or H ⁺ -hydrolysis followed by fermentation	Cellulose (wood, grass)	Bioethanol	
Gasification followed by processing into liquid products	Biomass of various origin	Fuels (methanol, light and middle distillate fractions, hydrogen)	

from industrial and municipal wastes.^{58–68} Biofuels belong to the category of renewable energy sources obtained by various methods of raw material processing (Table 1).^{69,70}

According to the International Energy Agency,⁷¹ the global demand for biofuel has increased in 2024 by 11%. In 2023, the global market of biofuels was estimated at 123.98 billion dollars with a growth rate of 7.02%. It is expected⁷¹ that the global market of biofuels would reach 243.37 billion dollars in 2033. The production of efficient biofuels is a strategic task of the Russian Federation for a number of energy, environmental, economic, engineering, and geopolitical reasons.⁷² Depending on the particular raw material, first-, second-, and third-generation biofuels are distinguished (Table 2).^{69,70}

In a report of the International Solid Waste Association (ISWA),⁷³ it is predicted that the amount of formed municipal waste (MSW) would increase to 3.8 billion tonnes in 2050 from 2.1 billion tonnes in 2023. In view of the relevance of efficient waste processing problem, municipal solid waste is considered as a raw material of choice for biofuel production (Table 3).^{58,59,63,66,68,74} The use of municipal solid waste in the production of biofuels solves two problems: reduction of the amount of waste and development of closed-loop economy. This type of raw material does not require special soil preparation, its amount is constantly replenished, and there is a well-established collection and delivery system,⁷⁵ which does not require additional capital investment.

The development and use of alternative liquid fuels, including biofuels and mixtures derived from waste is a strategically important area of power engineering. First-, second-, and third-

 Table 2. Classification of liquid biofuels into three generations.^{69,70}

	First	Second	Third
Raw materials	Sugar, vegetable oils, animal fats, starch, corn, wheat	Waste of food industry, straw, wood, rice husks, municipal solid waste	Algae
Products	Biomethanol, bioethanol, biogas, biodiesel	Bio-oil, biomethanol, bioethanol, green diesel	Bio-oil, biodiesel, bioethanol, bio- hydrogen and biomethane
Benefits	Environmentally friendly raw materials, simple production reactions (fermentation and transesterification)	No competition with food crops, low cost of raw materials, diversity of biofuels (bioethanol, biochar, bio-oil, synthesis gas)	Enhanced biomass productivity and oil content, use of wastewater and CO_2 for cultivation, no competition with the food sector, tolerance to changing environmental conditions
Drawbacks	Competition with the food sector	Complex reactions for conversion to biofuels	High energy consumption

Raw material	Process	Process conditions	Yield of products	Ref.
Plastic waste	Thermal liquefaction and fractional distillation	Temperature: 100-400°C	Biokerosene: 23% Natural gas and solid residue: 77%	58
	Catalytic pyrolysis	Catalyst: biochar, temperature: 450–671°C	Liquid product: 10–68% Gaseous product: 25–76%	63
	Thermal liquefaction and fractional distillation	Temperature: 270-420°C	Liquid fuel components include aviation and diesel fuel hydrocarbons	59
	Catalytic pyrolysis and fractional distillation	Catalyst: graphite, temperature: 350–450°C	Liquid product: 80%	74
	Catalytic pyrolysis	Catalyst: activated carbon, temperature: 430–600°C	Liquid product: 50.03–73.10% Gaseous product: 24.00–49.89%	68
	Catalytic pyrolysis	Catalyst: bifunctional Fe/AC, temperature: 450–600°C	Liquid product: 25.33–53.67% Gaseous product: 25–31.66%	66

Table 3. Industrial processes for MSW processing to biofuel. 58, 59, 63, 66, 68, 74

generation biofuels decrease the dependence on fossil sources, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and contribute to optimization of waste management. Switching to higher-generation biofuels decreases the competition with food crops and increases the environmental sustainability of their production.

The growth of demand for biofuels, which is predicted for the next decades, indicates the need to improve the industrial processes for their production, enhance the cost efficiency, and develop the regulatory and legal framework. In this regard, scientific research aimed at increasing the yields of the target products, reducing the energy expenditure, and improving the environmental characteristics of biofuels is of great importance.

3. Synthesis technologies

To date, scientific grounds have been developed for several production processes of liquid biofuels, which are currently at different stages of design and implementation, including industrial processes (Fischer–Tropsch synthesis, catalytic cracking); pilot and small-scale processes (hydroprocessing of vegetable oils and their mixtures with oil fractions, production of liquid fuels and olefins by hydroprocessing of polymer waste); and methods under research (transesterification).

3.1. Transesterification

The use of plant-derived components as a feedstock for biofuels is an efficient way to attain the required environmental characteristics of gas emissions from engine and power systems.⁷⁶ Among biofuels that are most widely used in diesel engines, special mention should be made of vegetable oils and their derivatives such as methyl, ethyl and butyl esters.^{77,78} The performance characteristics of engines operating on biofuels and their mixtures with other fuels, mainly petroleum-based diesel, have been studied.^{78,79} The use of vegetable oils and esters as fuels by themselves is difficult due to the differences between their physicochemical properties and those of traditional petroleum-based diesel. This brings about problems in the operation of diesel installations on vegetable oils and esters. These problems include poor characteristics of fuel supply and atomization caused by higher viscosity and density. The fuel supply process in diesel engines operating on vegetable oils and related fuels has been investigated quite comprehensively. The main regularities have been established. Recommendations on upgrading particular blocks, units, and the whole systems were formulated. Characteristics of fuel supply and atomization for diesel systems operating on vegetable oil-derived fuels and recommendations for improvement of these processes were formulated.⁷⁸ The properties of vegetable oils and their blends with petroleum diesel fuel and flow characteristics of the fuel in the parts of fuel supply system were studied.⁸⁰

Biodiesel is a renewable fuel derived from processed biological raw materials (vegetable oils and animal fats).⁸⁰⁻⁸² There are various methods for the use of vegetable oils in engine systems:⁸³ pyrolysis, microemulsification, direct blending with diesel fuel, transesterification. The major method for the production of biodiesel is transesterification, that is, conversion of triglycerides present in vegetable oils and animal fats into fatty acid esters.⁸⁴ The conversion of oils to fatty acid esters occurs in the presence of catalysts, which can be homogeneous^{39,85} or heterogeneous.^{86,87} The homogeneous catalysts are usually represented by acids (sulfuric or sulfurous) or alkalis (potassium and sodium hydroxides). The transesterification catalyzed by alkalis proceeds faster than the acid-catalyzed transesterification.88 Homogeneous catalysts have lower cost and consumption; they are able to ensure a high rate of product formation. The removal of homogeneous catalysts is a labourintensive process, requiring repeated washing, which is accompanied by the formation of by-products such as soap and water.⁸⁹ Alternatively, the reaction is carried out with solid heterogeneous catalysts (calcium, zinc, and magnesium oxides), which can be separated by filtration. These catalysts can withstand high humidity, but their extensive use is restricted due to leaching and lower reaction rates.90

The possibility⁹¹ of conducting transesterification of vegetable oils in supercritical methanol (p = 200-204 atm, t = 329 - 331°C, MeOH/oil = 2 v/v) without a catalyst makes this process less dependent on the type of oil and, hence, more versatile, because biodiesel can be obtained in this case from a mixture of various vegetable oils, with the composition of the target product being almost invariable. A catalytic system⁹² derived from a natural source (waste egg-shell) incorporated into transition metal oxides can serve as a bifunctional heterogeneous catalyst, which is renewable and biodegradable and has a low environmental impact; this catalyst can convert used cooking oil into fatty acid methyl ester. An active and reusable heterogeneous catalysed based on strontium oxide (SrO) can be used in a continuous flow reactor for large-scale biodiesel production.93 The coefficient of oil conversion to biodiesel decreases from 99.9 to 97.9 wt.% over six reaction cycles. The reactant molar ratio and the catalyst amount were found ⁹⁴ to influence the yield of biodiesel in the acid-catalyzed transesterification of sunflower oil with isopropyl alcohol. According to the results, the highest biodiesel yield (98%) is

attained at a reactant molar ratio of 25:1 and a catalyst (H₂SO₄) concentration of 2 wt.%. It was shown⁹⁵ that during the formation of fatty acid ethyl esters, ethanol rapidly and irreversibly inhibits the enzymatic activity of the prepared biocatalysts, while in the presence of ethyl acetate, biocatalysts operate for hundreds of hours at the optimal oil to ethyl acetate molar ratio of 1:(15-20). The half-life of the biocatalysts in the transesterification of vegetable (sunflower) oil with ethyl acetate was 720 h at 40°C, with the yield of products being 60%. It was proved⁹⁶ that the yield of biodiesel is determined by a set of factors, including the acid number of the starting material, water content, and reaction conditions. As a result, deep frying oil was identified as the most appropriate feedstock for the biodiesel production. Tall oil can be transformed into biofuel for a considerably lower cost than alternative bioresources such as soybean, sunflower, or rapeseed oil,97,98 because of the lower cost of the raw material.98,99 Lignocellulose, the pulping of which produces tall oil as a by-product, currently accounts for a significant portion of biomass.98

Vegetable oils have high viscosity, which is a serious disadvantage for their practical use as fuel components. High fuel viscosity decreases the efficiency of fuel supply and atomization processes and leads to nozzle coking.99 Known methods for decreasing the viscosity of vegetable oils include transesterification,^{100–102} pyrolysis,^{103,104} microemulsification,105,106 and mixing of biocomponents with petroleumbased fuels.^{107,108} The molar ratio glycerides to alcohol, the catalysts, the reaction temperature and time, the contents of free fatty acids and water in oils or fats affect the biofuel yield and characteristics.¹⁰⁹ The duration of transesterification also influences the reaction rate. The optimal reaction time is 2-3 h;¹¹⁰⁻¹¹⁶ an increase in the time does not result in a higher yield of the biofuel.¹¹⁷ Therefore, increasing duration of the process is inexpedient. When the reaction time is too long, the amount of the final product may decrease because of transesterification reversibility, resulting in the loss of esters and formation of soap, which increases the viscosity of the liquid.^{118,119}

3.2. Synthesis of liquid hydrocarbons from biomass and carbons

Biomass of various types can be processed, as well as virtually any other type of carbon-containing raw material (natural or secondary), into CO and H₂ mixtures, and, consequently, it can be included in the production chain of hydrocarbons (Fischer– Tropsch synthesis) and/or oxygenates (primarily, alcohols). In the general case, before gasification, biomass requires mechanical (crushing, moulding) and thermal pretreatment (drying, torrefaction, hydrothermal carbonization, and, in some cases, pyrolysis) followed by purification to remove undesirable components.¹²⁰ Biomass gasification is described by the following key reactions:^{120,121}

$$C_n H_m O_p \iff (1)$$

$$\iff CO_2 + H_2 O + CO + H_2 + C_x H_{2x} + C_x H_x + \text{resins, soot}$$

$$C+0.5O_2 \iff CO \tag{2}$$

$$CO+0.5O_2 \iff CO_2$$
 (3)

$$H_2 + 0.5O_2 \iff H_2O$$
 (4)

$$C+H_2O \leftrightarrows CO+H_2 \tag{5}$$

$$CO+H_2O \Longrightarrow CO_2+H_2 \tag{6}$$

$$C+CO_2 \Longrightarrow 2CO$$
 (7)

$$C+2H_2 \Longrightarrow CH_4$$
 (8)

$$CO+3H_2 \longrightarrow CH_4 + H_2O \tag{9}$$

This process is performed using pure oxygen or air oxygen, without or with addition of steam (autothermal gasification). Fixed-bed (downdraft and updraft), moving-bed, and fluidizedbed gasifiers are used.¹²²⁻¹²⁷ The gas formed upon the biomass processing may contain undesirable impurities such as O₂, NH₃, HCN, NO_x, H₂S, COS, HCl, aromatic compounds, and resins. The resins can be processed to CO and H₂ at an additional cracking stage or be removed by oil absorption.¹²⁸ The remaining oxygen is removed using Cu-Zn/zeolite or Pd/Al₂O₃ type catalysts or specialized membranes. Nitrogen-containing gases are either absorbed (ammonia) or decomposed to nitrogen, particularly on zeolite catalysts. Sulfur-containing gases are removed using chemisorbents like ZnO.¹²⁹ The synthesis gas obtained in this way is enriched in CO (the usual molar ratio $H_2: CO \le 1$; for gasification of bio- and hydro-chars, the molar ratio H_2 : CO ≤ 0.3); depending on the raw material, a considerable amount of CO2 may be present [usually $H_2:(CO+CO_2) \le 0.5$]. If gasification is carried out using air, nitrogen accounts for 55-60% of the total gas volume.¹²⁰ The transformation of synthesis gas of such composition into fuel products is faced with a number of difficulties, although the Fischer-Tropsch synthesis is the best known process for the preparation of alternative hydrocarbons. If, regarding the conditions and the type of catalyst (cobalt-, nickel-, and ruthenium-containing catalysts), this process can be completely, or nearly completely, reduced to the title reaction, which can be presented in the simplified form as

$$CO + 2H_2 \longrightarrow -CH_2 - +H_2O \tag{10}$$

then for the initial gas with the above-described composition, the CO conversion per pass cannot reach even 50%. In the presence of iron-based catalysts, the major Fischer–Tropsch reaction is accompanied by active water gas shift reaction, which involves the released water. For an ideal case of complete consumption of water, this makes it possible to write the overall equation:

$$2CO+H_2 \longrightarrow -CH_2 -+CO_2 \tag{11}$$

When the above catalysts are used, processing of synthesis gas based on biomass is the preferable process. However, in this case, an additional problem is the formation of even a large amount of undesirable CO_2 . Quite a few approaches have been proposed to solve this problem by controlling the composition of synthesis gas with excess contents of carbon oxides.¹³⁰ Examples of such solutions include the use of reverse water gas shift reaction to increase the $CO:CO_2$ ratio; recycling of the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis effluent gas with intermediate conversion of the formed methane to synthesis gas components; recycling of the effluent gas enriched in hydrogen resulting from dehydrogenation of the formed alkanes; and selected injection of H₂ produced in other processes.

The behaviour of catalysts for synthesis gas conversion to fuel products in the presence of excess carbon oxides in the synthesis gas has a lot of specific features unrelated to the need to utilize these carbon oxides. The primary issue is the control of selectivity: the molecular weight distribution of the formed hydrocarbons is often (although far from always) described by the Anderson–Schulz–Flory one-parameter equation

$$m_n = (1 - \alpha)\alpha^{n-1} \tag{12}$$

where α is the selectivity parameter of FTS, according to which the selectivity to fractions corresponding to fuel products (C5 to C10–11 hydrocarbons: naphtha, low-octane gasoline; C11 to C18–20 hydrocarbons: high-cetane diesel) cannot be higher than a definite value, amounting to 45% for naphtha at $\alpha \approx 0.76$ and 30% for the diesel fraction at $\alpha \approx 0.9$.¹³¹ The violation of the Anderson–Schulz–Flory distribution causes excess formation of methane or a local increase in α values for long-chain hydrocarbons, which induces increased formation of C19+ alkanes. In both cases, additional (although quite different) processes are needed to manage these excess products.

Since the hydrogenating role of H₂ in the FTS mechanism includes, in particular, the termination of growth of eliminated chains, it can be expected that H₂ depletion of synthesis gas, all other factors being the same, would be favourable for the increase in α . According to the cited publication,¹³¹ in the case of Fe-containing catalysts of compositions varying over wide limits, a change in the H₂:CO molar ratio (decrease from 5 to 0.5) causes an increase in α from 0.6 to 0.7–0.75. This is accompanied by non-monotonic change in the overall activity. As can be seen, the changes in selectivity are moderate, which is in line with other studies¹³²⁻¹³⁴ (Table 4) in which CO₂-rich gases with different hydrogen contents were tested. An increase in the content of hydrogen resulted in a sharp relative and absolute increase in CO₂ conversion, most likely, because of acceleration of reverse water gas shift reaction. When the content of CO₂ in hydrogen-rich gas decreased (down to zero) in the presence of the above-indicated catalyst, the selectivity to methane slightly increased and the selectivity to gaseous olefins decreased.

The effect on mutual replacement of CO and CO2 on precipitated and impregnated iron and cobalt catalysts supported on various materials (for hydrogen-rich gases, $H_2:C = 7:3$ at 200-300°C and 1 MPa) was investigated.135 In the case of cobalt catalysts, it was concluded that CO₂ acts as a diluent and disrupts the selective CO inhibition of the surface. Therefore, the predominant product of conversion of CO-depleted synthesis gas is methane, which is the thermodynamically most favourable hydrocarbon product. Thus, cobalt catalysts are considered to be inappropriate when CO-depleted gas is used. Conversely, K-promoted iron catalysts, prone to catalyze both the forward and reverse water shift reactions, barely change the selectivity. This is also true for cobalt catalysts with mixed initial gases. When the H_2 : CO molar ratio decreases from 3 : 1 to 1 : 1 (220°C, 1.8 MPa), the precipitated Co-Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst shows ¹³⁶ some decrease in the selectivity to methane (from 97 to 94%; no products above C4 were detected).

In view of the above, the bimetallic Fe-Co systems are of particular interest for the conversion of synthesis gas of a definite composition. As a vivid example, one can consider results 133 obtained for metal-organic structures, advanced catalysts that currently arouse a lot of interest. A carbon matrix containing a bimetallic Fe and Co composition differs from a similar sample containing only Fe by high selectivity to methane (43% vs. 24%) and lower selectivity to olefins (16% vs. 50%). The total CO conversion is 80 and 70%, respectively. However, the formation of CO_2 remains invariably high (50 and 48%, respectively). In this respect, the bimetallic samples bear similarity to monometallic Fe-containing catalysts, while in terms of increased methane formation, they resemble cobaltcontaining catalysts. The synergism of the two metals regarding the syngas conversion to C1 products turns out to be negative from the practical standpoint.

The biogas obtained using air oxygen contains a large amount of N₂. A comparison ¹³² of characteristics of the conversion of $1 \text{ CO}/2 \text{ H}_2$ (mol/mol) syngas samples undiluted and diluted with 50% N₂, all other factors being the same, revealed minor changes in the selectivity and some decrease in the conversion (see Table 4).

The synthesis gas conversion to condensable hydrocarbons *via* the intermediate formation of methanol using metal zeolite catalysts is the main alternative to the syngas conversion by the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis:

$$CO+2H_2 \iff CH_3OH$$
 (13)

$$CH_3OH \iff -CH_2 - +H_2O$$
 (14)

$$CO+H_2O \Longrightarrow CO_2+H_2 \tag{15}$$

$$CO_2 + 3H_2 \iff CH_3OH + H_2O$$
 (16)

The 1 CO/2 H₂ (mol/mol) composition of synthesis gas is considered to be most appropriate for this process.¹³⁷ Nevertheless, there are publications in which synthesis gas compositions similar to those produced from biomass were also tested. The catalyst consisting of Zn–Cr combined with the ZSM-5 zeolite subsystem commonly used for high-temperature methanol synthesis may provide¹³⁸ highly selective formation of both overall liquid hydrocarbons and aromatic compounds among them (Table 5);^{138–140} however, the last-mentioned characteristic as well as relatively high selectivity to CO₂ (65–70%) are poorly compatible with the modern paradigm of production of artificial liquid fuels.

Considerable interest is attracted by the use of Mo+zeolite type systems where not only methanol, but also higher monohydric alcohols can be formed as intermediates of the hydrocarbon synthesis. The 5 wt.% Mo/Y catalyst obtained by

Table 4. Examples of characteristics of the Fischer-Tropsch synthesis using bio-syngas or related feedstock.

Cataluat		Conversion	Selectivity (%)				Def
Catalyst	Process conditions, reactor	(%)	C1	C2-C4	C5+	alkenes	KeI.
Co-precipitated 100 Fe/6 Cu/16A1 with 4 K impregnation	Fixed-bed, 300°C, 1 MPa, 11 CO/32 CO ₂ /52 H ₂	$\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{CO}-82\\ \mathrm{CO}_2-0.3 \end{array}$	13	39	48	85 ^a	134
Co-precipitated 100 Fe/6 Cu/16A1 with 4K impregnation	Fixed-bed, 300°C, 1 MPa, 6 CO/20 CO ₂ /69 H_2	CO-88 CO_2-29	14	38	48	84 ^a	134
Metal-organic FeCo/C	Fixed-bed, 340°C, 2.5 MPa, 1 CO/1 H ₂	80	43	31	26	16	133
Co/Al ₂ O ₃	Fixed-bed, 200°C, 2 MPa, 1 CO/2 H ₂	68	7	6	86	-	132
	Fixed-bed, 200°C, 2 MPa, 1 CO/2 $\rm H_2$ (50% $\rm N_2)$	52	4	7	86	-	132

^a $C_2 - C_4$.

<u> </u>	D I'd	Conversion	Selectivity ^b (%)				
Catalyst"	Process conditions, reactor	(%)	C1	C2-C4	C5+	aromatic C5+	Ref.
Mixed 70% 1.9ZnO-1Cr ₂ O ₃ /30% ZSM-5	Fixed-bed, 410°C, 4.5 MPa, 1CO/1H ₂	38 (CO)	10	56	34	38	138
Mixed 70% 0.06ZnO-1Cr ₂ O ₃ /30% ZSM-5	Fixed-bed, 410°C, 4.5 MPa, 1CO/1H ₂	23 (CO)	6	20	74	77	138
Impregnated 5% Mo/Y	Fixed-bed, 300°C, 6.8 MPa, 1CO/1H ₂	14 (CO)	50		50	8	139
Impregnated 5% Mo/HZSM-5	Fixed-bed, 330°C, 9 MPa, 40% H ₂ , 20% CO, 12% CO ₂ , 2% CH ₄ , 26% N ₂	15	25	75	<1	>90	140
Impregnated 5% Mo/HZSM-5	Fixed-bed, 330°C, 9 MPa, 19% H ₂ , 20% CO, 12% CO ₂ , 2% CH ₄ , 47% N ₂	10	15	84	<1	>90	140
^a Weight fractions in percent are given	; ^b without CO_2 .						

Table 5. Parameters and indicators of hydrocarbon synthesis with intermediate formation of alcohols using bio-synthesis gas or related feedstock.^{138–140}

impregnation differed by the fact ¹³⁹ that the resulting condensable hydrocarbons contained relatively low amounts of aromatics (8% vs. 30-80% for β -zeolites and HZSM-5 with various SiO₂ to Al₂O₃ ratios) and more than 50% branched aliphatic hydrocarbons and naphthenes (this is much better than for β -zeolite and somewhat better than for HZSM-5). The selectivity to condensable hydrocarbons was substantially higher, although still clearly insufficient (50% vs. 10-40% for other samples). The same is true for the overall hydrocarbon selectivity (selectivity to CO₂ was $\approx 40\%$, while that for other zeolites was up to 60-70%). The total CO conversion over Mo/HZSM-5 can be 1.5-2.0 times higher than that achieved for the Y-based system.

Upon switching ¹⁴⁰ from the conventional syngas composition $(2 H_2: 1 \text{ CO})$ to a composition resembling that of the biomass conversion product (not only $2 H_2: 1$ CO ratio, but also much higher dilution with N₂, Table 5), the total conversion of CO and the methane selectivity noticeably change; the selectivity to highly aromatic C5+ products is much lower than that for the analogous Mo/HZSM-5 catalyst.¹³⁹

The industry is interested in the development of new highperformance catalytic systems for FTS.^{141–146} Efforts have been directed not only towards increase in the performance of existing and new catalysts, but also towards the discovery of new approaches and principles for the development of catalytic systems, their conceptual and practically effective combinations with different reactor designs using fixed (pelletized or microchannel) or fluidized (two- and three-phase) catalyst beds.

The first industrial production of hydrocarbon fuels by FTS was implemented in Germany in the early 20th century; products of brown coal gasification served as the feedstock for syngas production. Subsequently, FTS was further developed in the Republic of South Africa.¹⁴⁷ The first industrial plant producing liquid products from natural gas by low-temperature FTS was launched in Malaysia and had a relatively small capacity (14700 barrels per day). A larger plant (34000 bpd) was put in operation in Qatar in 2007. Later, the largest existing plant for this process (140000 bpd) was commissioned also in Qatar.^{147,148} Virtually all these facilities, irrespective of their capacity, are designed according to similar principles. In the first stage, the feed is converted to synthesis gas with an appropriate ratio of the components. The FTS unit directly follows this. Then the products of synthesis are separated and refined (hydrocracking, isomerization).

The world's first plant for the gas processing to liquid hydrocarbons according to the Sasol Synthol process was brought on-stream in 1992 in Mossel Bay (Republic of South Africa).¹⁴⁷ In 2016, construction of a gas-to-liquid (GTL) conversion plant was completed in Oklahoma City (USA), using a slurry reactor with a cobalt catalyst, which demonstrated high efficiency. This plant converted landfill gas (rich in methane) to liquid products, particularly, diesel fuel, aviation fuel, and various chemicals. In 2017, projects for modular design and construction of mini-GTL plants were initiated.149 Hydrocarboncontaining waste, including wood waste, served as the feedstock for the production of synthesis gas. High-performance microchannel reactor designs were used.150 The patented catalyst was based on Co as the major component; Re and Pt catalysts were used. The microchannel technology markedly increased the efficiency (including energy efficiency) and capacity of the process, primarily due to a significant (10-fold) decrease in the total volume of the reactor.

Another example of FTS implementation is the mini-GTL 300 unit operating since 2017 at the GasTechno Dimond site in the USA, which produces up to 24 barrels per day of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) and gas condensate.¹⁵¹ An additional 'methanol in a box' production unit, which produces up to 40 bpd of liquid crude methanol from dry gas, was put in operation at the same place in 2018. One more example is a plant located at the coastal terminal of the CENPES research centre (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil).¹⁵⁰ This facility provides good access to actual sources of associated gas from nearby offshore oil fields, as well as the necessary local utilities. At the end of 2011, after a period of testing that covered all compositions of the initial gas existing at the time, the process was approved for commercial use. Currently, there are few large-scale production facilities based on FTS in operation. The main efforts of the scientific and engineering communities around the world are aimed at the design and industrial implementation of lowcapacity units for efficient processing of a wide range of carboncontaining raw materials into commercial products.

The industrial production in the Niger Delta (Escravos GTL, joint plant of Shevron, Sasol, and the Nigerian National Petroleum Company, 33 000 bpd of naphtha and diesel) is another example of utilizing the resources of coastal gas fields.^{152,153} The construction of the units started in 2005, and the operation started only in 2013; the plant is considered to be unprofitable, but it is still functioning.¹⁵⁴

In Russia, several research centres are actively engaged in the design of catalytic systems for the production of liquid hydrocarbons by the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis. At the A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis of the

Russian Academy of Sciences (TIPS RAS), a large scientific school on catalytic systems for FTS, founded by A.N.Bashkirov, a well-known Soviet scientist, has been developing since the 1940s. The researchers pay attention to not only the development of new catalysts, but also fundamental analysis of the structures of catalyst active sites and the surface mechanism of the synthesis.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁶⁰ Particular attention is paid to the development of ultradisperse (nanoscale) catalysts for the three-phase suspension process. The obtained catalytic systems were successfully scaled up and applied in a bubble type pilot column reactor.161-163 This works were initiated by Academician S.N.Khadzhiev, an outstanding Soviet and Russian petrochemist. Nanoscale catalysts based on biopolymers, in particular cellulose and lignin, the main structural components of plant biomass, are being actively developed and tested at TIPS RAS. The distinctive features of these systems are high activity, high performance, and the absence of the preliminary activation (recovery) stage.164-166

At the N.D.Zelinsky Institute of Organic Chemistry of the Russian Academy of Sciences (ZIOC RAS), studies dealing with FTS were initiated by outstanding chemist Ya.T.Eidus. Subsequently, this line of research was comprehensively developed by famous scientist A.L.Lapidus and his numerous followers. They studied in detail the behaviour of various cobalt-containing catalysts, including those promoted by a wide range of additional components and modified with zeolites to achieve higher selectivity to aromatic compounds and determined the role of the combination of metal and metal-oxide sites for the chain propagation mechanism.^{167–171}

Researchers of the G.K.Boreskov Institute of Catalysis, Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences (BIC SB RAS), who are recognized experts in the kinetics of catalysis, also pay considerable attention to the development of catalytic systems for the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis. Researchers of BIC SB RAS published a series of papers^{172–174} reporting the FTS mechanism, studies of catalytic systems and mechanisms of catalyst deactivation, and design of new high-capacity reactors. The combination of in-depth theoretical studies and vast practical experience in the field of industrial catalysis provided the development of reproducible catalytic systems that meet all the requirements of a modern production process.

The M.I.Platov South Russian State Polytechnic University is one of the centres engaged in the development of highly active catalysts for FTS.^{175–178} An industrial FTS unit with a capacity of 50 thousand tonnes per year operated in Novocherkassk since 1952 for more than 50 years. This made it possible to form a research team specializing in the development of catalysts for FTS. To date, this research team has composed a large database characterizing FTS products.^{175–178}

It is also important to mention original combinations of catalysts and reactors of non-standard design developed at the Technological Institute for Superhard and Novel Carbon+Materials.^{179,180}

As indicated in the beginning of this Section, biomass can he subjected to thermal pretreatment (hydrothermal carbonization or torrefaction), which may yield intermediate carbonized material, conventionally called biochar. This opens up yet another way for the preparation of liquid hydrocarbons from biomass without the syngas production stage, that is, the use of approaches developed in the field of coal hydrogenation. This process (as well as the abovementioned hydrothermal carbonization, the interest in which was revived at the turn of the 21st century^{181,182}) was discovered in the early 20th century by F.Bergius,¹⁸³ and between 1925 and 1945 it was actively developed and used. As a result, the amount of fuel produced through hydrogenation exceeded that produced by the Fischer-Tropsch synthesis. At the same time, a two-stage method of hydrogenation was proposed. In the first stage, coal was converted (in the presence of Mo- or less expensive Fe-containing catalysts) into long-chain hydrocarbons, which formed mixtures similar to high-boiling oil fractions; in the second stage, these hydrocarbons were cracked (similarly to heavy oil fractions) in order to obtain gasoline hydrocarbons. A two-stage approach of this type is characteristic of modern production processes using low-temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (such as the SMDS process).

The interest in hydrogenation (as well as in the Fischer– Tropsch synthesis) substantially increased starting from the 1970, although the number of research and development products in this field is insufficient. Currently, the only industrial production in the world is the catalytic two-stage liquefaction (CTSL) process (Shenhua, China)¹⁸⁴ with a capacity of ~1 million tonnes per year (including 780 thousand tonnes per year of fuel fractions) using a Fe-containing catalyst (GelCat) in the first stage and the suspended Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst in the second stage. There are several pilot catalytic processes ^{185,186} in the capacity range of 50–100 thousand tonnes per year (Table 6);^{185,186} the yields of target products in these processes are lower than in CTSL.

In recent years, analogies between the 'native' brown coal and 'artificial biochar', necessary for effective involvement of the latter into the liquefaction process, have also been investigared.^{187–189} The thermal dissolution of brown coals in organic compounds (tetralin, *N*-methylpyrrolidone)¹⁹⁰ and similar dissolution of hydrothermal carbonization product in the presence of nickel-containing catalyst¹⁹¹ produce liquid products with similar characteristics.

Thus, biomass processing to liquid fuels both through the intermediate gasification to give synthesis gas of various compositions and through carbonization and liquefaction stages is an interesting and rapidly developing field of chemical engineering to produce organic and fuel products alternative to petroleum-based fuels. Nevertheless, the development of effective catalysts for the above processes is a task that has not been adequately solved yet. This, in turn, accounts for the low

Table 6. Performance of the catalytic coal liquefaction pilot processes.^{185,186}

Propage antalyst	Conditions	Yields of fractions (%)					
Flocess, catalyst	Conditions	C1-C4	25-200°C	200-325°C	coal, coke		
NEDOL (one-stage), Fe	435–460°C, 15–20 MPa	17	29	19	19		
H-Coal (one-stage), Co-Mo/Al ₂ O ₃ , Ni-Mo/Al ₂ O ₃	435–460°C, 20 MPa	10	13	20	37		
Kohleoel (one-stage), Fe	470°C, 30 MPa	19	25	33	22		
BCL (two-stage), Fe and Ca-Ni-I	Мо	14	37	15	8		

cost efficiency of the proposed process chains in comparison with the currently existing oil refining processes.

3.3. Processing of alternative feedstocks by catalytic cracking

The catalytic cracking technology is a promising approach to the processing of mixed feedstock consisting of petroleum-based and plant-based components at existing oil refining plants.^{192,193} The process characteristics considerably depend on the operating parameters such as temperature, pressure, feed composition and properties, circulation rate, and catalyst activity and selectivity, which depend on the acidity and pore size and channel shape of the active components of the catalyst components, zeolites. In view of the global trend towards the use of heavier oil feedstock, the catalytic cracking is carried out using various fractions such

as vacuum and atmospheric gas oils and fuel oils, coking and visbreaking gas oils, hydrocracking residues, waste tyre pyrolysis products, and combinations of the above fractions with plastic waste and plant-based raw materials.¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁹ In this regard, an important aspect of the studies is to identify potential components that can serve as feedstock for the catalytic cracking, taking into account the petrochemical or fuel purpose of the process, and to optimize the composition of mixed feedstock when these components are involved in the process (Table 7).^{200,201} The possibility of using particular fractions for processing at existing industrial plants should be evaluated considering the equipment design, layout of the unit, and the type of catalyst. No comprehensive studies have been conducted as yet, but some data have already been acquired. In particular, distribution of the products of catalytic cracking, the influence of the catalyst composition and operating parameters for the processing of vegetable oils over a bi-zeolite catalyst (HREEY

Table 7. Summary of the main results concerning the influence of feedstock type and conditions of the catalytic cracking on the process performance.^{200,201}

Feedstock type	Reactor/catalyst	Conditions	Effect
Saturated stearic acid	Laboratory-scale once-through microriser (isothermal plug-flow mode) with fluidized- bed regeneration/commercial equilibrium cracking catalyst	Temperature of 525°C, catalyst to oil weight ratio (CTO) of 5.5	Yield of gases of 18 wt.%, gasoline yield of 57 wt.%
Rapeseed oil	Laboratory-scale once-through microriser (isothermal plug-flow mode) with fluidized- bed regeneration/commercial equilibrium cracking catalyst	Temperature of 525°C, catalyst to oil weight ratio (CTO) of 5.5	Yield of gases of 6 wt.%, gasoline yield of 34 wt.%
Rapeseed oil/oleic acid	Laboratory-scale once-through microriser (isothermal plug-flow mode) with fluidized- bed regeneration/commercial equilibrium cracking catalyst	Temperature of 525°C, CTO = 3.9	Gasoline yield of 29 wt.%; light cycle oil (LCO) yield of 30 wt.%
Sunflower oil	Laboratory-scale flow type unit with a fixed catalyst bed/catalyst [zeolite Y in the HREE form and the matrix (amorphous aluminosilicate, reprecipitated aluminium hydroxide and bentonite clay)]	Temperature of 450–510°C, catalyst/feed ratio of 3.8	The yield of unsaturated C1–C4 hydrocarbons increases by 8.8 wt.%; the gasoline yield decreases by 12.3 wt.%
		Temperature of 490°C, catalyst/feed ratio of 0.8 to 3.8	The yield of unsaturated C1-C4 hydrocarbons increases by 3.2 wt.%, the gasoline yield decreases by 8.1 wt.%
Blended feed (hydrotreated vacuum gas oil and 3–10 wt.% sunflower oil)	Laboratory-scale flow type unit with a fixed catalyst bed/catalyst [zeolite Y in the HREE form and the matrix (amorphous aluminosilicate, reprecipitated aluminium hydroxide and bentonite clay)]	Permanent conditions ²⁰¹	Feed conversion considerably increases (more than 70%); the highest yield of gasoline fraction (more than 52 wt.%)
Blended feed (hydrotreated vacuum gas oil and 25–75 wt.% vegetable oil)	Laboratory-scale flow type unit with a fixed catalyst bed/catalyst [zeolite Y in the HREE form and the matrix (amorphous aluminosilicate, reprecipitated aluminium hydroxide and bentonite clay)]	Permanent conditions ²⁰¹	Considerable contribution of hydrogen redistribution and olefin aromatization reactions; up to 25 wt.% vegetable oil activates alkanes and cycloalkanes in the petroleum feedstock
Blended feed (petroleum- based aromatics and 10 wt.% sunflower and palm oils)	Laboratory-scale flow type unit with a fixed catalyst bed (5 g)/bi-zeolite non-modified phosphorus catalyst (HREEY and HZSM-5)	Temperature of 450°C and weight hourly space velocity: 30 h^{-1} . The feed is supplied for 30 s	The conversion increases by 3.6–4.6 wt.%, the gasoline yield increases by 0.3 and 1.9 wt.%; the coke amount on the catalyst markedly increases (by 11.9 wt.%)
Blended feed (highly saturated feed; hydrocracking residue and 10 wt.% sunflower and palm oils)	Laboratory-scale flow type unit with a fixed catalyst bed (5 g)/bi-zeolite non-modified phosphorus catalyst (HREEY and HZSM-5)	Temperature of 450°C and weight hourly space velocity: $30 h^{-1}$. The feed is supplied for $30 s$	No promotory effect, 84.2–84.6% conversion, gasoline yield decreased by 3.6 and 4.0 wt.%

Table 7 (continued).

Feedstock type	Reactor/catalyst	Conditions	Effect
Blended feed (n-hexadecane and 20 wt.% 2-methoxy-4- methylphenol)	Riser Simulator/equilibrium commercial FCC catalyst	Temperature of 400–550°C, catalyst/feed ratio of 6	Conversion increases by 25%, gasoline yield decreases by 9.4 wt.%, the C1–C4 yield increases by 9.4 wt.%. The main synergistic effect is the decrease in the coke yield compared to that obtained with separate feedstocks due to the effect of hydrogen transfer reactions and the presence of steam on the coke formation mechanisms
Blended feed (vacuum gas oil and 20 wt.% tyre pyrolysis oil)	CREC (chemical reactor engineering centre) riser simulator	Temperature of 560°C, catalyst/feed ratio of 7, contact time of 6 s	Gasoline yield increases by 3.4 wt.% and LCO yield increases by 6.7 wt.%. The yield of gases decreases by 0.6-3.25 wt.% as a result of decreasing intensity of recracking; the contents of olefins and aromatic hydrocarbons in gasoline increase; the octane number reaches 104.1
Blended feed [hydrotreated vacuum gas oil and 5 wt.% acetone and glycerol mixture (9:1)]	Short contact time microactivity (SCT-MAT) laboratory-scale unit; catalytic cracking pilot lift pipe reactor. Microsphere cracking catalyst (Y in the equilibrium form, BASF), maximum olefins additive (ZSM-5)	Temperature of 560°C, catalyst/ feed ratio of $3.8-4.0$; temperature of 500°C, catalyst and feed contact time in the reactor of $1.5-2.0$ s; catalyst: feed circulation rate of 6 kg kg ⁻¹ ; feed flow rate of 500 g h ⁻¹	The yield of C1–C4 olefins increases by 9.2 wt.% (with the additive) because of inhibition of the hydrogen transfer reactions; the content of aromatic HCs in gasoline decreases by 12.6 wt.%
Blended feed (vacuum gas oil and 10 wt.% acetic acid)	Fluidized fixed bed ACE unit, steel rector/industrial equilibrium catalytic cracking catalyst and a mixture of 90% this catalyst and 10% ZSM-5	Temperature of 535°C, atmospheric pressure, nitrogen flow rate of 40 mL min ⁻¹ , bottom nitrogen flow rate of 100 mL min ⁻¹ and feed flow rate of 1.20 g min ⁻¹ , CTO of 3, 5, 7, and 9; catalyst weight of 9 g	The yield of gases increases by 3.3 wt.%, the gasoline yield decreases by 2.4 wt.%, and the yield of coke decreases by 2.3 wt.%
Blended feed (vacuum gas oil and 10 wt.% phenol)	Fluidized fixed bed ACE unit, steel rector/industrial equilibrium catalytic cracking catalyst and a mixture of 90% this catalyst and 10% ZSM-5	Temperature of 535°C, atmospheric pressure, nitrogen flow rate of 40 mL min ⁻¹ , bottom nitrogen flow rate of 100 mL min ⁻¹ and feed flow rate of 1.20 g min ⁻¹ , CTO of 3, 5, 7, and 9; catalyst weight of 9 g	The yield of gases increases by 0.8 wt.%, the gasoline yield increases by 2.3 wt.%, the yield of coke decreases by 3.1 wt.%; amounts of CO and CO ₂ increase
Blended feed (vacuum gas oil and 10 wt.% hydroxyacetone)	Fluidized fixed bed ACE unit, steel rector/industrial equilibrium catalytic cracking catalyst and a mixture of 90% this catalyst and 10% ZSM-5	Temperature of 535°C, atmospheric pressure, nitrogen flow rate of 40 mL min ⁻¹ , bottom nitrogen flow rate of 100 mL min ⁻¹ and feed flow rate of 1.20 g min ⁻¹ , CTO of 3, 5, 7, and 9; catalyst weight of 9 g	The yield of gases increases by 1.6 wt.%; propylene and ethylene yields increase; the gasoline yield increases by 0.1 wt.%, the yield of coke decreases by 2.1 wt.%

and HZSM-5) have been studied.²⁰¹ Processing of vegetable oils under conditions typically used for catalytic cracking $(495-545^{\circ}C)$ is inexpedient. This is caused by high reactivity of the primary products of thermal decomposition of oil triglycerides, that is, C15-C17 olefins. This decreases the yields of liquid products and promotes the intense formation of cracking gases and coke. It was found that in the processing of sunflower oil, raising the temperature increases the rate of degradation of the hydrocarbon moieties of triglycerides and the rate of secondary reactions. The yield of unsaturated hydrocarbons increases, while the gasoline yield decreases. As the temperature rises from 450 to 510°C, with the catalyst to feed weight ratio being 3.8, the yield of coke increased from 8.6 to 11.4 wt.%. This resulted in a decrease in the gasoline yield by 12.3 wt.%. The amount of gaseous products increased by 22.1 wt.%, and the total amount of carbon oxides was 4.8-5.7 wt.%. In the processing of vegetable oils, the liquid cracking products are formed in higher yields at a lower temperature (the maximum yield is attained at 450° C) and a lower catalyst to feed ratio (the maximum yield is obtained at a catalyst to feed weight ratio of 0.8). An increase in the catalyst to feed ratio from 0.8 to 3.8 at a temperature of 490° C leads to increasing average activity of the catalyst. As a result, the proportion of light olefins in the reaction products increases by

10.2 wt.%. The yield of liquid products decreases by 16.6 wt.%. This is impractical for the production of fuel fractions.²⁰¹ The control of the cracking temperature, catalyst composition, and catalyst to feed ratio makes it possible to vary the degree of conversion and the yield and quality of the target products.

Studies of the combined cracking of mixed plant- and petroleum-based feedstocks^{202,203} demonstrated a synergistic effect caused by the promoting action of olefins. The transformations of mixed plant and petroleum feedstock are depicted in Scheme 1.^{201,204}



According to this Scheme, an olefin molecule is readily converted to a carbocation under the action of an acid active site of the catalyst.^{201,204} The resulting carbocation reacts with paraffin and naphthene hydrocarbons (hydrogen redistribution reactions), which are present in large amounts in the petroleum feedstock. The major products of these reactions are aromatic hydrocarbons and isoparaffins.

Higher concentrations of olefins (25–75 wt.% vegetable oil in the mixed feed) result in considerable contributions of secondary transformations, because of high olefin reactivity.²⁰⁵ Apart from bimolecular reactions of hydrogen redistribution, unimolecular olefin aromatization reactions take place. This gives rise to large amounts of mono- and polyaromatic hydrocarbons. The strong adsorption of these compounds on the acid sites of the catalyst leads to deactivation of the active sites and decreases the catalyst activity.

The percentage of plant component added to the feed for processing over cracking catalysts is chosen depending on the composition of the major feed component, particularly, the content of saturated and aromatic hydrocarbons. The composition of the cracking products considerably depends on the index of unsaturation of the vegetable oils involved in the processing. The use of oils with higher indices of unsaturation such as sunflower oil (the unsaturation index is nine), all other factors being the same, promotes active aromatization of olefins formed upon cracking of oils and containing two or three double bonds. This leads to accelerated coke deposition on the catalyst, deactivation of the catalyst, and decrease in the total conversion. Cracking products contain large percentages of mono- and polyaromatic hydrocarbons when oils with high indices of unsaturation are used as the cracking feed. Thus, the catalytic cracking of saturated stearic acid leads to a higher yield of gasoline fraction and gaseous products than the cracking of oleic acid and rapeseed oil containing approximately 60 wt.% oleic acid.²⁰⁰ Rapeseed oil with an index of unsaturation (4.7) intermediate between those of palm oil (1.2) and sunflower oil (9) is often used as a cracking feed, in order to minimize the contribution of aromatization and coking reactions. It was shown²⁰¹ that cracking of the mixed feed containing 3 to 10 wt.% sunflower oil provides a considerable increase in the feed conversion (more than 70%) and the highest yield of the gasoline fraction (more than 50%). Further increase in the proportion of vegetable oil in the mixed feed induces active coke

formation reactions and, as a consequence, catalyst deactivation and a decrease in the yield of target fractions.

In the case of co-cracking of vacuum gas oil (VGO) with high contents of aromatic hydrocarbons, the percentage of vegetable oil with a low index of unsaturation (palm oil) should be in the range of 5-10 wt.%.²⁰⁶ For the co-cracking of vacuum gas oil with highly unsaturated vegetable oil (sunflower oil), the content of vegetable oil should not exceed 5 wt.%. An increase in the vegetable oil content enhances the formation of coke deposits on the bi-zeolite catalyst and decreases the yield of the target cracking products. It was found that co-processing of petroleum aromatic and plant feedstocks, with the content of sunflower and palm oil being 10 wt.%, using bi-zeolite nonmodified phosphorus catalyst (HREEY and HZSM-5) increases the conversion by 3.6-4.6 wt.%. This is due to enhanced adsorption of the generated carbocations and aromatic hydrocarbons present in the petroleum feedstock on the catalyst active surface. The addition of vegetable oil to the saturated base feedstock (hydrocracking residue) had virtually no promoting effect or influence on the conversion (84.2-84.6%). The gasoline yield upon the processing of highly unsaturated feedstock on the bi-zeolite catalyst decreased by 3.6 and 4.0 wt.% when palm and sunflower oils were involved in the processing. The gasoline yield increased by 0.3 and 1.9 wt.% in the case of co-processing of aromatic vacuum gas oil and sunflower and palm oils. The increased aromaticity of the base feedstock and high index of unsaturation of sunflower oil (9) lead to a considerable increase in the coke deposition on the catalyst, which reaches 11.9 wt.%. This is caused by intense aromatization of alkenes that are formed upon cracking of oils. The mixed feed containing up to 25 wt.% vegetable oil activates alkanes and cycloalkanes in the petroleum-based feed. This effect is caused by the hydrogen transfer reaction,²⁰⁷ resulting in the formation of isoalkanes and aromatic hydrocarbons from C15-C17 alkanes, primary products of thermal cracking of vegetable oils, which act as acceptors, and saturated structures, which are hydrogen donors. When the content of vegetable oils is high (25 to 75 wt.%), large amounts of alkenes are formed. The secondary cracking, aromatization, and condensation reactions are accelerated.

A study of the catalytic cracking of 2-methoxy-4methylphenol and a mixture of this compound (20 wt.%) with n-hexadecane in a riser simulator reactor at 400-550°C using an equilibrium commercial FCC catalyst has been reported,208 The co-processing of plant and petroleum feedstock has a number of advantages. In particular, the yields of coke and dry gas decreases, catalyst deactivation is retarded, and the gasoline yield increases. Characteristic features of processing of tyre pyrolysis oil were identified.²⁰⁹ The results obtained in the cracking of VGO and a mixture of VGO with pyrolysis oil (1:4 w/w) were compared. When the mixed feed was used, the yields of the gasoline fraction and LCO were higher. The gasoline formed upon cracking of the mixed feed had a lower content of paraffins and naphthenes and a higher content of olefins and aromatic compounds. The synthetic oil obtained by pyrolysis of household plastic waste was used.²¹⁰ Vacuum gas oil with a variable content of the synthetic oil (0.5, 10, and 20 wt.%) was fed to the reactor. The synthetic oil consisted of approximately 60% polyethylene, 20% polypropylene, 10% polystyrene, and 10% contaminating components such as polyvinyl chloride, polyethylene terephthalate, cellulose, composite plastics, rubber, food waste, and inorganic compounds.

The products of pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass and biofuel production waste have a large practical potential as a catalytic cracking feedstock.^{211,212} A benefit of catalytic cracking is the suppression of formation of carbon oxides from oxygenates and higher yields of light olefins or gasoline fraction in the liquid products. In particular, the introduction of 5 wt.% acetone and glycerol in 4.5:0.5 weight ratio into a petroleum feedstock (biodiesel production waste) provides a 5-8% increase in the propylene yield and 1-3% increase in the butylene yield upon cracking catalyzed by Y zeolite; no CO or CO₂ were detected in the products.²¹³ The possibility of converting up to 10% acetic acid or hydroxyacetone and phenol in a standard petroleum feedstock on zeolites was substantiated.²¹² The yield of propylene increased by, on average, 1% and the ethylene yield increased by 0.4-0.8%. The results of studies of the joint conversion of the most hard-to-process bio-oil components, guaiacol and its derivatives, have been reported.^{214–216} It was shown that the presence of hydrocarbons promotes the conversion of these oxygenates to aromatic compounds (benzene and derivatives) at lower energy costs compared, for example, with hydrotreating.

The joint conversion of hydrocarbons and acetone, which models the carbonyl compounds present in biomass pyrolysis products, *via* catalytic cracking has been studied.^{217,218} Using deuterium labels, it was shown that the transformation of acetone in a hydrocarbon medium does not proceed as saturation with hydrogen to give propylene, but follows a more complex mechanism including the addition of hydrocarbon carbocation to acetone giving C6+ intermediates and the subsequent transformations of the intermediates.

The co-processing of petroleum and plant feedstock can be catalyzed by mono- and bi-component HREEY and HZSM-5 zeolites promoted by phosphorus or pre-impregnated with ammonium hydrogen phosphate before being incorporated into the bi-zeolite catalysts.²¹⁹ A single type of catalyst acid sites is insufficient for the primary cracking to take place with high conversion of the mixture to give a high yield of gasoline fraction upon the processing of mixed feedstock consisting of the non-hydrotreated VGO and vegetable oils; two types of catalyst acid sites, that is, Lewis and Brønsted acid sites, are needed. The catalyst matrix must have an extensive surface and strong acid properties. These requirements are met for the threecomponent matrix (montmorillonite, amorphous aluminosilicate, and alumina).²²⁰ To maximize the yield of C2-C4 olefins, it is expedient to use oils with increased content of saturated fatty acids, especially in the presence of a high amount of ZSM-5 zeolite in the active component of the catalyst (15-20 wt.%). An increase in the HZSM-5 percentage in the cracking catalyst for the conversion of sunflower oil up to 40 wt.% leads to an increase in the total yield of the propane-propylene and butanebutylene fractions up to 30 wt.%.²⁰¹ Modification of cracking catalysts such as Co, Mg-Al (or Zn), and Mg-Al mixed oxides increases the conversion of mixed petroleum feedstock containing 10 wt.% sunflower oil by 5.0 wt.%. The yield of gasoline fraction increases by 1.6-3.0 wt.%. It was found that catalyst samples containing mixed Mg-Al oxides with copper cations lead to enhanced decarbonylation reaction, lower conversion of mixed feedstock, and lower yield of the gasoline fraction. This is due to the action of copper oxide on the Y zeolite.221 The catalytic cracking of VGO mixed with waste vegetable oils (5 wt.%) has been performed in the presence of industrial cracking catalysts (Omnikat-210P and Zeokar-600) and their mixtures with natural halloysite nanotubes.²²² At a temperature of 500°C, the gasoline yield was found to increase

by 0.7-1.4% relative to that for conversion of VGO alone. The most pronounced increase was noted for catalytic systems containing halloysites. The lowest yield of the gasoline fraction was detected when a waste vegetable oil mixture (with a heavier composition) and the Omnikat-210P and Zeokar-600 (0.7-0.8 wt.%) catalysts were used. However, the use of halloysite as a catalyst component can increase the gasoline yield (by at most 1 wt.%). The quality indicators of the gasoline fractions obtained upon the catalytic cracking of VGO mixture with waste vegetable oils are virtually identical to those of conventional catalytic cracking gasoline. The use of halloysites for catalytic cracking was shown²²² to decrease the content of aromatic hydrocarbons in the gasoline fraction by 1.4–1.8 wt.%. It was found²²³ that incomplete conversion of fatty acids resulting from cracking of triglycerides in vegetable oils is a restricting factor, as this leads to increasing acidity of the produced fuels. Experiments using the Zeokar-600 catalyst demonstrated that the addition of 5 wt.% cotton-seed oil to catalytic cracking feedstock can be recommended as a partial replacement of petroleum feedstock by an alternative plantbased feedstock.

Thus, the catalytic cracking of blended feedstock containing petroleum-based and vegetable components is a promising technique for processing of alternative hydrocarbon sources at existing refineries. According to studies, the combined involvement of vegetable oils and petroleum feedstock induces a synergistic effect associated with the participation of olefins in hydrogen redistribution reactions. However, high content of plant components may result in intense coke formation, catalyst deactivation, and decrease in the yield of target products. By optimizing process parameters (temperature, catalyst/feed ratio, and the composition of the mixed feed), it is possible to control the degree of cracking and distribution of products. The use of biofuel production waste and pyrolysis liquids in the catalytic cracking leads to increasing yield of light olefins and gasoline fraction and decreasing carbon oxide emissions. Promising lines for further research include the development of new catalysts with high resistance to deactivation, study of the mechanisms of co-cracking of various components, and evaluation of the integration of this technology into the existing oil refining processes.

3.4. Hydroprocessing of vegetable oils and their mixtures with petroleum fractions

Hydroprocessing of vegetable oils is a highly efficient way to produce biofuels. The biodiesel obtained in this way closely resembles the diesel fraction. It has high stability and low viscosity and fits into the existing infrastructure and, therefore, it can be integrated into the current fuel systems. The biodiesel produced by hydroprocessing has a number of advantages over biodiesel obtained by other methods, in particular, by transesterification. The key advantages are increased stability and oxidation resistance; decrease in the harmful emissions; and better compatibility with the fuel system. Vegetable oils can be processed as mixtures with petroleum feedstock. Therefore, the processing capacity can be increased and higher quality products can be obtained. Hydroprocessing can use various types of vegetable oils, including food waste and non-food crops. This makes it more resilient to changes in feedstock prices.

Biodiesel can be produced from oils, including vegetable oils.^{224,225} Oils consist of fatty acid triglycerides (glycerol esters). Resin acids can be present in some oils. In addition to triglycerides, oils may contain free fatty acids and various impurities (the

Feedstock	C14:0	C16:0	C18:0	C18:1	C18:2	C18:3	C20:1	Ref.
Rapeseed oil	_	18.9	3.4	65.8	9.2	0.2	_	201
Palm oil	1.6	24.1	3.1	50.1	11.7	-	0.2	226
Soybean oil	<3	12.5	4	29	46	_	5.5	227
Sunflower oil	0.1	6.3	4.0	24.1	63.7	_	0.3	226
Mustard oil	_	22.0	9.4	34.5	6.3	22.5	_	201
Castor oil ^a	0	2.0	1.0	3.0	5.0	_	0	226
Algal oil	_	51	2	39	7	_	_	228
Camelina oil	0.1	5.6	2.8	15.0	19.5	_	2.7	229
Tall oil ^b	-	15	1	58	26	_	-	230
^a Contains 89% ricino	leic acid. ^b The c	ontent of fatty	acids is 37%, th	at of resin acids	s is 47%, and the	content of unsa	ponifiable resid	lue is 16%.

Table 8. Contents (wt.%) of fatty acids in the triglycerides of oils.

Structures of oleic acid triglyceride (a)ofand linoleic acid triglyceride (b)pipl



values in parentheses indicate the ratio of the number of carbon atoms to the number of double bonds in the acid molecule): myristic (C14:0); palmitic (C16:0); stearic (C18:0); oleic (C18:1); linoleic (C18:2); linolenic (C18:3); and gadoleic acid (C20:1). Resin acids and other compounds (abietic acid, palustric acid, pimaric acid, sitosterol, cholesterol, stigmasterol can also be contained in oils (tall oil). The contents of fatty acids as triglycerides in various oils are summarized in Table 8.

The hydroconversion of fatty acid triglycerides involves a variety of reactions. The mechanism of this process is depicted in Scheme 2: the hydrogenolysis steps are highlighted in blue (reactions 1–5); deoxygenation steps are shown in black (reactions 6–13); and orange colour indicates the structural modification steps (reactions 14–19).²³¹ The main products of this process are saturated hydrocarbons formed *via* deoxygenation of acids and saturation of unsaturated bonds.²³⁰

Scheme 3 presents the kinetics of rapeseed hydroprocessing at 1 MPa. In the presence of hydrogen, fatty acid triglycerides are involved in parallel reactions to give high-molecular-weight compounds (HWC) such as waxes or ketones and oxygenated products (O) with lower molecular weight, which are in turn converted to saturated hydrocarbons (A) and then to gaseous products. Comparative data on the achievements of research groups engaged in the field of oil hydroprocessing are summarized in Table 9.^{232–258}

3.5. Production of liquid fuels and olefins by hydroprocessing of polymer waste

Every year, three to five million tonnes of plastic waste are generated in Russia.²⁵⁹ Most of the waste is stored or disposed

of by incineration, and only less than 25% of waste is sent for processing after pre-sorting.²⁵⁹ Apart from the amounts of plastic waste, a lot of harm is caused by toxic additives used to improve the properties of plastics.²⁶⁰ This is most clearly exemplified by PVC products in which plasticizers (phthalates, sebacinates, phosphates, *etc.*) may account for up to 70% of the total weight, and the presence of chlorine makes PVC all the more problematic and, as a consequence, it has low popularity for processing for environmental reasons.^{261–263} Thus, disposal of mixed plastic waste (MPW) is one of the most environmental challenges of modern age.

In recent years, research in the field of plastic waste recycling has been actively carried out all over the world. The vast majority of studies consider recycling processes with energy recovery.²⁶⁴ There are several trends, *e.g.*, reprocessing of polymer waste and biomass mixtures by gasification, various designs of which were described in detail.²⁶⁵ The major product of gasification is synthesis gas, which is converted to a mixture of n-paraffins *via* the Fischer–Tropsch synthesis. They are components of aviation fuels. In this sequence of reactions, it is necessary to remove sulfur,²⁶⁶ nitrogen,²⁶⁷ and halogens, first of all chlorine,^{129,268} from gaseous products and to absorb considerable amounts of carbon dioxide.²⁶⁹

The most rational way for recycling of MPW without separation into different classes is thermolysis (degradation at elevated temperatures with a deficient amount of oxygen).²⁷⁰ The major product of thermolysis is a mixture of liquid hydrocarbons [thermolysis oil (TO)], which can be processed to motor fuel components and light olefins, that is, raw materials for the secondary production of plastics.^{259–261, 270} Typical MPW contains up to 20 wt.% polyvinyl chloride, which necessitates further processing due to increased content of organochlorine compounds and unsaturated hydrocarbons.

Quite a few studies address methods for the thermal reprocessing of plastics in which the liquid products are analyzed and then mixed with appropriate diesel or gasoline oil fractions without hydrogenation treatment.^{271–274} Mixtures of thermolysis oils with traditional diesel or gasoline in various ratios were found (despite the obvious benefit in energy) to produce considerable amounts of soot and nitrogen oxides in the exhaust gas. The results of studies of the methods for removing toxic components, especially halogen compounds, from the plastic thermolysis products have been reported. However, in most studies (approximately 200) summarized in a review,²⁷⁵ the main goal was to reduce the environmental hazard rather than produce some valuable products. A separate line of research is to establish the properties of fuel fractions isolated from the products of thermal reprocessing of plastics and to compare



Fatty acid triglyceride HWC products

HWC is high molecular weight compounds such as waxes and ketones;



these properties with the properties of analogous petroleumbased products.²⁷⁶ Zeolite-catalyzed hydrocracking of mixtures of polymers (polyethylene and polyvinyl chloride) with VGO to give liquid and gaseous hydrocarbons has been reported;²⁷⁷ however, these mixtures did not contain nitrogen compounds or water, which could deactivate the acid sites of zeolite catalysts. Hence, the reported results represent a special case and cannot form the basis for a process for recycling of mixtures of various plastics. Studies on intensification of thermal destruction and pyrolysis of waste plastics, most often, polyethylene and polyvinyl chloride, in the presence of zeolites, metal carbonates, and iron(III) oxide, are in progress.^{278,279} Despite the obvious increase in the quality of the obtained pyrolysis products, these studies neglect the problems of catalyst stability and separation from carbon deposits. Furthermore, pyrolysis carried out in the presence of different types of catalysts²⁸⁰ gives liquid products that considerably differ in the properties. For example, the volume concentration of oxygen varies in the range from 0.17 to 4.8%, and the nitrogen concentration varies from 0.14 to 0.36%. It is commonly believed²⁸¹ that the products of catalytic pyrolysis could replace petroleum fuels, but this requires hydrogenation processing of the pyrolysis products.

The conversion of mixtures of chemically different plastics to one target product resembling the conventional crude oil in a number of main characteristics is currently considered to be the most promising way for recycling of waste plastics. This enables the involvement of plastic wastes into oil refining by subjecting them to known hydrotreating processes and thus obtain fuels and other products.

The possibility of using TO in hydrotreating processes and the use of the hydrotreated product as the feed for catalytic cracking was substantiated.²⁸² The results demonstrated that the use of the hydrotreated mixture of TO and straight-run VGO provides higher yields of gasoline and isobutene, as well as higher conversion of the feed compared to the use of feed containing no TO. The hydrotreating of TO-containing mixtures

 Table 9. Summary data on the type of vegetable oils, reactors, process conditions, catalysts, and major products (MPs) of co-hydroprocessing of vegetable oils and their mixtures with petroleum gas oils.

Oil	Reactor type	Process conditions	Catalyst	MPs	Conversion (%)/MP yield, wt.%	Ref.
		Vegetable o	oil feedstock			
Rapeseed oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 340^{\circ}\text{C}$ p = 4.0 MPa VHSV = 1 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 500-1000 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/γ-Al ₂ O ₃	С15-С18 алканы	93/54.52	232
		T = 300-380°C p = 1 MPa OCIIC = 2.66-9.87 h ⁻¹ H ₂ = 10 L h ⁻¹	Ni-Cu/CeO ₂ -ZrO ₂	alkanes	-/60	233
	Batch reactor	T = 300 - 400 °C p = 5 - 11 MPa t = 3 h	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃ Pt/H-Y Pt/H-ZSM-5	C7–C18 n-alkanes C15–C18 n- and isoalkanes	-/70-80 -/20-40	244
Palm oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 350^{\circ}C$ p = 4-9 MPa $OCIIC = 2 \text{ h}^{-1}$ t = 0-14 days	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C16-C18 n-alkanes	-/100	252
	Batch reactor	T = 300-320°C Atm. pressure t = 1-2 h Catalyst/oil = 0.0133 w/w	NiMo/zeolites	C8–C19 n-alkanes	_	253
	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 450^{\circ}$ C WHSV = 2.5 h ⁻¹	HZSM-5 MCM-41	Gasoline, kerosene, and diesel components	_	254
Soybean oil	Batch reactor	$T = 400^{\circ}C$ p = 9.2 MPa t = 1 h Catalyst/oil = 0.044 w/w; 0.088 w/w	NiMo/ γ -Al ₂ O ₃ CoMo/ γ -Al ₂ O ₃ Ni/Al ₂ O ₃ -SiO ₂ Pt/ γ -Al ₂ O ₃ Pu/ γ -Al ₂ O ₃	C15–C18 n-alkanes C15–C17 n-alkanes C15–C17 n-alkanes C15–C17 n-alkanes	92.9/64.45 78.9/33.67 60.8/39.24 50.8/37.71 39.7/32.00	232
	Batch reactor	T = 350°C p = 0.7 MPa N ₂ t = 4 h Stirring speed = 1000 rpm	Ni/Al ₂ O ₃ Ni/Al/LDH MgAl/LDH	> C18 C8-C17 C8-C17 C8-C17	68/51.20 74/52.90 72/47.80	255
Sunflower oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 360 - 380^{\circ}C$ p = 6 - 8 MPa VHSV = 1.0 - 1.2 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /oil = 450 Nm ³ m ⁻³	Sulfided catalyst (not indicated)	C15-C20 n- and isoalkanes	-/64.7	256
		$T = 360 - 380^{\circ}$ C p = 6 - 8 MPa	CoMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C5–C10 hydrocarbons C11–C19 n-alkanes	94–99.8/ 63.1–71.5	257
		$VHSV = 1.0 - 1.2 h^{-1}$ H ₂ /oil = 450 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	n- and isoalkanes	81.8–97.4/ 42–51.9	
			NiW/Al ₂ O ₃		86.7–95.6/ 9.4–49.3	
		$T = 350 - 370^{\circ}\text{C}$ p = 2 - 4 MPa VHSV = 1.0 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /oil = 500 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃ -F	C15–C18 n-alkanes	_/ 73.2-75.6	258
		$T = 380^{\circ}C$ p = 4 - 6 MPa VHSV = 1.0 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /oil = 500 - 600 Nm ³ m ⁻³	CoMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C14–C19 n-alkanes	100/ 73.7-73.9	234
		T = 310-360 °C p = 2 MPa VHSV = 0.9-1.2 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /oil = 1000 Nm ³ · m ⁻³	Pd/SAPO-31	C16–C18 n- and isoalkanes	-/89.3-73.4	235

Oil	Reactor type	Process conditions	Catalyst	MPs	Conversion (%)/MP yield, wt.%	Ref.
		Vegetable o	oil feedstock			
Sunflower oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 380^{\circ}C$ p = 4.0 MPa VHSV = 1.0 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /oil = 1300 Nm ³ m ⁻³	Pt(Pd)/B ₂ O ₃ -Al ₂ O ₃	C5-C20 n- and isoalkanes	93.5/-	236, 237
Algal oil	_	T = 410 °C p = 5 MPa (H ₂)	Sulfided 5 wt.% NiO-18 wt.% MoO ₃ / HZSM-5 pretreated with (ODAC)	_	98/	238
		Vegetable oil and petroleum	fraction blends as feedstoo	ck		
Rapeseed oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 300^{\circ}\text{C}$ p = 4.5 MPa VHSV = 1.5 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 250 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C15–C18 n-alkanes	97/-	239
		T = 400-420 °C p = 18 MPa MCIIC = 1 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1000 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C15–C20 n-alkanes	55.4/-	240
		T = 340°C p = 4 MPa VHSV = 1.1 – 1.25 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 510 – 600 Nm ³ m ⁻³	$\frac{Ni-MoS_2/Al_2O_3}{MoS2/Al_2O_3}$	-	_	241
		$T = 340 - 360^{\circ}C$ p = 4 MPa VHSV = 0.75-1.5 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 600 Nm ³ m ⁻³	Mo/Al ₂ O ₃ NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C8–C22 alkanes	_	242
Palm oil	Fixed-bed reactor	T = 310-350 °C p = 3.3 MPa FWHSV = 0.7-1.4 h ⁻¹	CoMo/Al ₂ O ₃	Diesel fraction components	100/-	243
		T = 300-320 °C p = 0.1 MPa H ₂ /feed = 1500 Nm ³ m ⁻³³	NiMo/цеолит	Diesel fraction components	-/11.93	253
Sunflower oil	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 360 - 380^{\circ}C$ p = 8 MPa VHSV = 1 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 600 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C11-C22 n-alkanes	-/82-90	245
		$T = 350^{\circ}\text{C}$ p = 13.8 MPa VHSV = 1.5 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1060 Nm ³ m ⁻³	Hydrotreating catalyst (not indicated)	Diesel fraction components	85/42	246
		$T = 350^{\circ}C$ p = 6.9 MPa VHSV = 1.5 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1068 HM ³ · M ⁻³	Hydrotreating catalyst (not indicated)	Gasoline, kerosene, and diesel components	64/37.5	247
		$T = 300 - 450^{\circ}$ C p = 5 MPa VHSV = 4.97 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1600 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C15–C18 n-alkanes	-/54-75	248
		$T = 320 - 350^{\circ}$ C p = 3 - 6 MPa FWHSV = 1-4 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1068 Nm ³ m ⁻³	$NiMo/Al_2O_3 - \beta$ -zeolite	C17–C18 n-alkanes	>90/-	249
		T = 360 °C p = 4 MPa VHSV = 0.5–1 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 500 Nm ³ m ⁻³	MoS ₂	C10-C125 n-alkanes	92–99/–	250
Соевое	Fixed-bed reactor	$T = 340 - 380^{\circ}C$ p = 5 MPa VHSV = 2.4 h ⁻¹ H ₂ /feed = 1500 Nm ³ m ⁻³	NiW/Al ₂ O ₃ -SiO ₂ NiMo/Al ₂ O ₃	C15–C20 n-alkanes	-/85-95	251

Table 9 (continued).

Note. VHSV is the volume hourly space velocity, WHSV is weight hourly space velocity (h^{-1}) . Dashes indicate that no data are available.



Figure 2. Block diagram of the processing of chlorinated MPW and key characteristics of the products according to the results of Refs 282–285. The fractions are given in weight percent (Copyright belongs to the Russian Chemical Reviews): HT DF is hydrotreated diesel fuel, VGO is vacuum gas oil, CCG RON is research octane number of catalytic cracking gasoline.

leads to markedly higher content of high-boiling n-paraffins, which result from hydrogenation of unsaturated compounds. This expands the range of products. On the basis of the results, a block diagram of integrated processing of MPW including chlorine-containing films was proposed (Fig. 2). This provides a broad range of fuel components and feedstock for petrochemical processes.^{282–285}

According to the proposed diagram (see Fig. 2), mixed plastic waste is subjected to thermolysis under controlled temperature rise up to 510°C. This affords thermolysis oil (TO) with a temperature of boiling away of 95% of the volume not higher than 560°C. This product contains approximately 0.3 wt.% chlorine and more than 20 wt.% olefins and dienes. The sulfur and nitrogen contents do not exceed 5 ppm. Then thermolysis oil is hydroprocessed in a mixture with hydrocarbon fractions (VGO or diesel). Depending on the goal of subsequent treatment, a mixture of TO and hydrocarbon fraction is hydrotreated or hydrocracked. The final stage of processing of the hydrotreated products is production of commercial petroleum products such as high-octane gasoline (by catalytic cracking); winter diesel fuel (by hydrodewaxing); summer diesel fuel (by fractionation). Thus, the developed approaches can be used to convert a broad range of mixed waste plastics, including polyvinyl chloride, to commercial motor fuels.

3.6. Synthesis of biofuel components from alcohols

The hydrocarbon production from alternative feedstocks includes, in particular, production of biokerosene, liquid hydrocarbons (gasoline and kerosene fractions), and aromatic hydrocarbons from alcohols.²⁸⁶ These technologies consist of alcohol production from bio-feedstock or CO_2 and conversion of the alcohol to hydrocarbons. The processes in which bio-feedstock is converted to alcohols and then to jet fuel are called alcohol-to-jet. If CO_2 serves as the source of carbon, the processes are called power-to-liquid. They are distinguished by

utilization of energy from nuclear power plants or renewable sources (wind or solar energy) to generate hydrogen by water electrolysis.

3.6.1. Synthesis of alcohols

Bioalcohols (ethanol, n-butyl alcohol, and isobutyl alcohol) are considered to be a promising feedstock for the production of jet fuel components. The first-generation bioethanol is obtained from sugar cane, sugar beets, corn, or wheat. The processing of sugar biomass to produce bioethanol includes fermentation of sugars under the action of microorganisms or, in the case of starch, acid or enzymatic hydrolysis to isolate sugars, which are then fermented to give alcohols. The production of firstgeneration bioethanol was successfully implemented on an industrial scale in the USA, in Europe, and in Brazil.²⁸⁷ Secondgeneration bioethanol and n- and iso-butyl alcohols are produced from lignocellulose biomass, which is subjected to hydrolysis followed by fermentation.288,289 Pretreatment of the lignocellulose feedstock is the key stage needed for effective hydrolysis. The existing pretreatment methods can be subdivided into physical (mechanical grinding, pyrolysis, γ -irradiation, microwave radiation), chemical (acid, alkaline, oxidative, organosolvent, and ionic-liquid treatment), biological (microbial oxidation), and physicochemical (steam explosion, ammonia fibre expansion) treatments. The hydrolysis of lignocellulose biomass is conducted in the presence of acids (sulfuric or hydrochloric acid) at a temperature of 50-65°C or in the presence of enzymes (a mixture of endocellulase, exocellulase, and β -glucosidase) at 40–50°C; the goal of the process is to convert cellulose and hemicellulose polymers to monosaccharides (pentose, hexose). The subsequent fermentation of monosaccharides is carried out in the presence of various bacteria (Clostridium acetobutylicum, Clostridium beijerinckii, *E.coli*), the type of which determines the composition of the resulting oxygenates.²⁹⁰⁻²⁹²

Another possible way to convert biomass to alcohols is anaerobic digestion with the release of biogas (50 vol.% methane; 45 vol.% CO_2), steam reforming of biogas to syngas, and production of methanol. One more option is gasification of biomass to obtain syngas followed by the synthesis of methanol.¹⁹ In both cases, the obtained syngas is characterized by low concentration of hydrogen, high concentration of CO_2 , and also the presence of compounds that can act as catalytic poisons for the catalysts of methanol synthesis. Therefore, in both cases, the stage of high purification of synthesis gas is required. The methanol production from synthesis gas is a welldeveloped technology. The process occurs at $220-280^{\circ}C$ and 5.0-10.0 MPa in the presence of copper zinc catalysts.

When exhaust gases of coal-fired power plants, thermal power plants, or gas pumping units are used as feedstock, methanol can be produced directly from CO_2 using industrial catalysts based on copper oxide and zinc. In this case, hydrogen needed for the synthesis is produced by water electrolysis. Detailed information about the latest advances in the field of processes and catalysts for methanol synthesis from CO_2 is presented in reviews.^{293–295}

3.6.2. Conversion of alcohols to hydrocarbons

The conversion of alcohols to gasoline range hydrocarbons is a well-known process actively used in industry. The most well-known technologies for the one-stage production of hydrocarbons from oxygenates are the MTG, EMRE, TIGAS, STG+, and STF processes.^{296–299}

The methanol-to-gasoline (MTG) process was first implemented at a natural gas processing plant with a capacity of 1.4 billion m³ per year (570000 tpy of gasoline). The process included three main units: two methanol production units with a capacity of 2600 tonnes per day each and one MTG production unit. The resulting MTG gasoline had a high content of durene (5.5 wt.%), which is an undesirable (regarding the service properties) component of automobile gasoline. Therefore, the process flow diagram included also a hydrotreating unit. In 1997, the gasoline production unit was shut down for economic reasons. In 2004, the MTG plant in New Zealand was withdrawn from operation.³⁰⁰ In 2009, a new process engineering was proposed. The upgraded EMRE process was implemented in a 2500 bpd (90 000 tpy) unit for coal processing in China.³⁰⁰

The main difference of the TIGAS process from MTG is that a mixture of oxygenates (methanol and DME) is produced from syngas in one stage. The process is based on the conversion of natural gas by autothermal reforming according to the SynCOR technology. The synthesis of C5–C11 liquid hydrocarbons is performed at a pressure of 1.5-2.5 MPa. Commercial quality products are obtained by blending of the produced high-octane fraction (35–45 wt.% aromatic compounds) with a light gasoline fraction; this gives high-quality gasoline of the Euro-5 grade.³⁰¹

The TIGAS technology was implemented in Turkmenistan where a plant with a capacity of 600 000 tpy of AI-92 gasoline (+12 000 tpy of DT and +115 tpy of LPG) was commissioned in 2019 [gas-to-gasoline (GTG) project]. Currently, the TIGAS technology is integrated into bio-feedstock (wood, lignin) processing projects.^{302, 303}

Another way for the production of liquid hydrocarbons from oxygenates, including methanol, is the synthesis *via* oligomerization of lower olefins. The world first process called MOGD (Mobil olefin-to-gasoline and distillate) was meant for the conversion of lower olefins formed at vacuum gas oil

catalytic cracking units. The development of decarbonization processes for aviation industry and industrial implementation of CO_2 conversion to methanol initiated a new stage of the synthesis of jet fuels *via* oligomerization of lower olefins. In this case, alcohols (methanol, ethanol, butanols) produced from biofuel or CO_2 are routed to dehydration to form olefins such as ethylene, propylene, and butenes, which are then oligomerized to C12–C32 higher olefins and hydrogenated/hydroisomerized to give alkanes.³⁰⁴ The overall chart for the production of a jet fuel component from alcohols is depicted in Scheme 4.

Scheme 4



The jet fuel production through methanol is performed using the EcofiningTM technology, which includes biomass fermentation, isolation of CO₂, and conversion of CO₂ to various hydrocarbons through methanol (e-fuels: eSAF, eGasoline, eDisel). The jet fuel component produced from ethanol and isobutanol by fermentation of sugars was certified for use in 2016. The limiting content of this product in the commercial fuel can reach 50 wt.%.³⁰⁵ The Net-Zero 1 project and Ethanol-to-JetTM technology are processes for conversion of ethanol to jet fuel being developed in the USA.^{306, 307}

3.6.2.1. Dehydration of alcohols

The methanol conversion to lower olefins is performed under atmospheric pressure and a temperature of 320–400°C in the presence of silicon aluminium phosphate (SAPO-34, SAPO-11) or zeolite catalysts (ZSM-5, ZSM-11).³⁰⁸ The silicon aluminium phosphates provide the formation of a 1:1 (w/w) ethylene– propylene mixture, while in the presence of zeolites, propylene and butenes are mainly formed.

The ethanol dehydration to ethylene is carried out under atmospheric pressure and a temperature of 200-400°C in the presence of acid catalysts, namely, zeolites and heteropolyacids.³⁰⁹ For example, the H₃[PW₁₂O₄₀]/SiO₂ catalyst provides an ethylene yield of 98% at a temperature of 170-190°C.³¹⁰ The industrial applicability of heteropolyacids is restricted by their low thermal stability. The use of zeolite catalysts makes it possible to perform dehydration of ethanol at temperatures of 250-300°C. For example, the ethylene selectivity on the 0.5% La-2% P-HZSM-5 catalyst is 99.9%.³¹¹ Zeolite catalysts tend to be rather rapidly deactivated as a result of deposition of highly condensed products on the catalyst surface. A comparative study of the ethanol dehydration catalyzed by structurally diverse zeolites (H-FER, H-MFI, H-MOR, H-BEA, HY, and H-USY) and by Al2O3 and amorphous aluminosilicate was reported.312 The highest yield of ethylene (99.9%) was found for H-FER and H-USYzeolites at a temperature of 300°C.

The dehydration of n-butanol to 1-butene is carried out at a temperature of 380°C and a pressure of approximately 2 atm on acid type catalysts such as inorganic acids, metal oxides, or

The isobutyl alcohol dehydration to isobutene is carried out at a temperature of $250-350^{\circ}$ C and a pressure of 2-7 atm. Quite a few diverse catalysts have been tested for the dehydration of isobutyl alcohol to isobutene or a mixture of butenes. For example, in the reaction carried out at 325° C and 5 atm in the presence of γ -Al₂O₃, the isobutyl alcohol conversion was nearly 100%, while the selectivity to isobutene reached 95%.³¹⁵ It was shown that highly acidic catalysts such as HZSM-5 and HY zeolites and sulfonic acid cation exchange resins are highly active in dehydration reactions.³¹⁵

3.6.2.2. Oligomerization of olefins

Oligomerization of lower olefins, ethylene and propylene, on heterogeneous catalysts is carried out at a temperature of 150–260°C and a pressure of 20–50 atm. Hydrogenating metals, preferably nickel (up to 5 wt.%) supported on silicates, amorphous aluminosilicates, or zeolites are used as catalysts.³¹⁶ The supports used most often are mesoporous materials such as SBA-15, AISBA-35, and MCM-41 and macroporous materials like Amberlyst 15 and Amberlyst 35.³¹⁷ In addition, ZSM-22, ZSM-23, ZSM-48, and ZSM-11 are actively used.^{318, 319}

The C4–C8 olefin fraction formed upon ethylene and propylene oligomerization is isolated from the contact gas at the reactor outlet and is either recycled to the reactor inlet or routed to the second process stage to further build-up the hydrocarbon chain and increase the yield of higher olefins. When the carbon chain reaches the C12–C32 size, the oligomerization product is sent to hydrogenation or hydroisomerization stage.

The oligomerization of C4–C8 olefins is performed at a temperature of $160-190^{\circ}$ C and a pressure of 35-70 atm. Amorphous aluminosilicates (Si/Al 2.6) mixed with alumina modified with Group VIIIB and VIB metals, Ni (0.5–5.0 wt.%) and W (up to 12 wt.%), are also used in this stage.³²⁰

A study of 1-butene oligomerization on zeolite catalysts such as H-ZSM-5, H β , and HY demonstrated ³²¹ that H-ZSM-5 zeolite provided the highest yield of the C8–C16 hydrocarbon fraction (up to 64%). In the case of mesoporous NiO/MMZ_{ZSM-5} catalyst, the yield of the same hydrocarbon fraction in the first hours of catalyst operation was approximately 60%, but then it gradually decreased down to 48% because of coke formation on the catalyst surface.³²² In addition, the use of catalysts with high acidity gives rise to 2-ethyl-1-hexene as a by-product, which is hydrogenated to 2-ethylhexane, an undesirable component for an aviation fuel. 2-Ethyl-1-hexene can be removed from the stream by dimerization at 115–120°C using perfluorinated Nafion sulfonic acid resin as a catalyst; in this case, the yield of C16 hydrocarbons can reach 90%.³²³

Oligomerization of isobutene is carried out at a temperature of $100-300^{\circ}$ C and a pressure of up to 70 atm with Amberlyst 35 ion exchange resin as the catalyst.³²⁴ The obtained product consists of dodecane and hexadecane isomers with a large number of methyl substituents (*e.g.*, 2,2,4,6,6-pentamethyl-heptane). This is the key stage in the conversion of isobutyl alcohol produced by sugar fermentation to a jet fuel component.³²⁴

There are some studies aimed at the development of a single catalytic agent for alcohol dehydration and oligomerization of the resulting olefins. For example, the use of dealuminated H β zeolite for isobutanol conversion to hydrocarbons at a temperature of 240°C and a pressure of 10 atm in a nitrogen

flow provided a more than 50% selectivity to C8–C16 hydrocarbons for a feed conversion of 98%.³²⁵

3.6.2.3. Hydrogenation/hydroisomerization of higher olefins

The hydrogenation of higher olefins is performed at $150-350^{\circ}$ C and a pressure of 25-70 atm, and with an excess of hydrogen (H₂/feed molar ratio varies from 1.5 to 5.0) using Pt-, Pd-, or Ni-containing catalysts and gives saturated hydrocarbons, the composition of which is close to the composition of the kerosene fraction.^{323,326} The applicable catalyst supports include activated carbon, carbon nanofibres, or alumina. The concentration of active metals is 0.1 to 1.0 wt.%. The yield of the target fraction of paraffin hydrocarbons after hydrogenation stage is 90-95%.

3.6.2.4. Miscellaneous pathways of conversion of alcohols to aviation fuel

In the case of ethanol, there is another way of converting it to an aviation fuel component: dehydrogenation to give acetaldehyde followed by aldol condensation yielding crotonaldehyde, which is then hydrogenated to 1-butanol (Guerbet reaction). Thus, in the Guerbet reaction, two ethanol molecules are converted to a butanol molecule. The subsequent Guerbet condensation with butanol and ethanol affords both linear and branched C6+ alcohols.³²⁷ The production of an aviation fuel component from ethanol *via* aldol condensation is shown in Scheme 5.

The Guerbet reaction is carried out at a temperature of $250-400^{\circ}$ C. The catalysts include magnesium oxide, Mg_xAl_y two-layer hydroxides and spinels, hydroxyapatite Ca₅(PO₄)₃(OH), basic zeolites CaX and NaX, and alumina-supported transition metals, *e.g.*, Ni/ γ -Al₂O₃. The Guerbet condensation is accompanied by side reactions including intramolecular dehydration of alcohols to give the corresponding olefins, intermolecular dehydration of alcohols to give ethers, the Lebedev reaction to give dienes, and decarbonylation.^{328,329}

An alternative process is production of diesel fuel with low-temperature characteristics improved using cohydrodeoxygenation and isomerization of plant-derived feedstock on a multifunctional catalyst. The corresponding hybrid technologies provide high relative yields of the main components of the fuels. In particular, C5+ hydrocarbons containing up to 72% isoparaffins were obtained ³³⁰ in 75-79% yields by using Pt/ZSM-22-Al₂O₃ catalysts containing 15 to 70 wt.% ZSM-22 zeolite in the hydrodeoxygenation of sunflower oil (temperature of 310-340°C, pressure of 3-5 MPa, and WHSV = $0.8-3.0 \text{ h}^{-1}$). It was shown³³¹ that other types of zeolites (SAPO-11, ZSM-22, ZSM-23, and ZSM-12) are also suitable for the supports (zeolite: $Al_2O_3 = 30:0$ w/w) of Pt/Al₂O₃-zeolite catalysts for complete hydrodeoxygenation of sunflower oil at temperatures of 320-350°C, a pressure of 4 MPa, and WHSV = 1 h^{-1} , with the yield of liquid products being 75-82%. The proportion of isoalkanes and the yields of direct hydrodeoxygenation products increases in the series: 1%Pt/Al2O3-ZSM-22<1% Pt/Al2O3-ZSM-12<1% Pt/Al2O3-ZSM-23 < 1% Pt/Al₂O₃-SAPO-11. The concentration of Brønsted acid sites in the catalyst increases in the same series. The effect of boron oxide content in the B₂O₃-Al₂O₃-supported nickel molybdenum sulfide catalyst on the process performance and composition of products was investigated³³² in relation to hydrodeoxygenation of sunflower oil and isomerization of the resulting alkanes. The sunflower oil hydrodeoxygenation was carried out at 380°C, 4.0 MPa, and WHDV of 1 h⁻¹. The use of



NiMoS/B₂O₃-Al₂O₃ catalysts provided the production of diesel range hydrocarbons free from sulfur or oxygen compounds in 81-85% yield. Upon the introduction of 20-30 wt.% boron oxide into the oil hydrodeoxygenation catalyst, the proportion of isoalkanes in the products increased to 77-78%. The authors³³¹ studied the effect of the content of tungsten oxide in the support of the Pt/WO_x-Al₂O₃ catalyst on the catalyst acidity, degree of dispersion of the supported platinum, and also on the product composition of hydrodeoxygenation of sunflower oil carried out in a hydrogen atmosphere at a weight hourly space velocity of the liquid feed of 1 h⁻¹, a temperature of 380°C, and an overall pressure of 4 MPa. When the catalyst contains 15 wt.% tungsten, the proportion of isoalkanes increases to 74%, while the complete conversion of the feed is maintained for at least 24 hours. It was shown that an increase in the tungsten content leads to increasing number of weak and medium Brønsted acid sites on the catalyst surface and decreasing degree of dispersion of deposited platinum, resulting in higher yields of isoalkanes in the product.

In conclusion, it is noteworthy that production technologies of biofuel components from alcohols are promising alternatives to the traditional production processes of hydrocarbons; they reduce the carbon emissions and increase the sustainability of power systems. The main stages of these processes are the biomass processing into alcohols and the subsequent conversion of alcohols to hydrocarbons in order to produce aviation fuel. Particular attention is paid to the synthesis of bioalcohols from various types of feedstock, including first- and secondgeneration bioethanol and the synthesis of methanol from CO₂. For effective implementation of these processes, it is necessary to optimize the methods of hydrolysis of lignocellulose biomass and the subsequent fermentation of monosaccharides to produce various types of alcohols such as ethanol and butanols. In addition, the development of dehydration and olefin oligomerization and hydrogenation processes is a key factor for the production of high-quality aviation fuels.

3.7. Application of alcohols and ethers

In order to reduce the adverse anthropogenic impact on the environment, integrated measures have been implemented in various countries and regions, including more stringent quality standards for engine fuels, improved in-process control of industrial emissions, and increased energy efficiency of combustion equipment.³³³ Tougher regulatory restrictions have been developed to reduce the char particle emissions, and alternative liquid fuels to replace traditional hydrocarbon fuels have been implemented.^{334,335} Char is composed of highly dispersed carbon nanoparticles able to exist in the atmosphere as aerosols for a long time.³³⁶ These particles have a significant impact on physiological processes in the human body; they can induce pathological changes in the respiratory system and increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases and carcinogenesis, in particular development of lung cancer.^{337,338} In order to optimize combustion and reduce the content of carbon emissions in the combustion products, oxygen-containing additives that improve the oxidation kinetics started to be added into fuel mixtures.^{339,340}

Current research in this area focuses on the use of oxygencontaining fuel compositions, including methanol, ethanol, dimethyl ether, ethyl acetate, and so on.³⁴¹ Intensification of the oxygen balance in fuel mixtures ensures more complete combustion of hydrocarbons, which leads to a decrease in the concentration of soot particles in the combustion products.³⁴² Methanol and ethanol contain a high proportion of oxygen and, hence, they can suppress soot formation.343 Blending of bioethanol with conventional diesel fuel not only enhances the performance characteristics of internal combustion engines (ICEs), but also reduces the emission of solid particles.^{344, 345} However, the inclusion of methanol into diesel blends has engineering limitations caused by low solubility of methanol in nonpolar media and difficulty of phase mixing with air-fuel mixtures.³⁴⁶ Experimental studies of hybrid blends based on biodiesel, methanol, and hydrocarbon fuels showed that upon an increase in the methanol content to 60%, the concentration of solid particles decreases by 75%; however, the NO_x concentration simultaneously increases by 12.3%.347 The effect of ethanol, which is used as an additive, on the kinetics of formation of solid particles was studied for the ethylene diffusion combustion at various pressures; it was found that 10 wt.% replacement of ethylene produces the maximum synergistic effect towards suppression of soot formation.348,349

Butanol also attracts attention as a promising fuel modifier due to its high calorific value, improved compatibility with traditional fuels, and low corrosivity. Consequently, butanol can be used in ICEs without the need for significant modifications.^{350,351} Diesel fuels with butanol components have a pronounced anti-soot effect.^{352,353} The soot formation is also suppressed by introduction of anisole, an oxygen-containing aromatic compound formed upon lignin depolymerization and characterized by a high cetane number and low toxicity.^{354, 355} However, exceeding a certain threshold of anisole concentration in a fuel can lead to the opposite effect, that is, intensification of carbon deposition.³⁵⁶

Apart from the addition of oxygen compounds, promising research is directed towards testing of various catalytically active additives, including alkaline and acidic compounds. The introduction of sodium carbonate or potassium hydroxide can modulate the acid–alkaline balance in the flame zone, thus influencing the kinetics of oxidative processes and the agglomeration processes of soot structures.³⁵⁷ These modifiers are also able to change the mechanisms of transformation of nitrogen- and sulfur-containing impurities in fuel systems. However, the lack of sufficient knowledge of the mechanisms of combined action of fuel additives on the soot formation is a serious challenge in the development of effective strategies for reducing industrial emissions.

Thus, the use of oxygenates as fuel modifiers continues to be an important trend for increasing the quality of fuel combustion and reducing soot particle emissions. However, despite the advances along this line, issues related to engineering limitations and potential adverse effects induced by high concentrations of special additives have not yet been fully clarified. Further studies in the field of combined use of fuel additives and their influence on combustion kinetics and soot formation may become a key element for the decrease in carbon emissions and minimization of the impact of vehicles on the environment.

4. Energy, environmental, and techno-economic prospects

The development of particular components and alternative fuel blends requires control of their major properties and characteristics to enable their practical application within complete life cycle as substitutes for or additives to petroleumbased fuels. There are specific features of control of fuel properties for their applications in power and engine systems. Analysis of these features with allowance for the potential application of fuels in land, water and air vehicles is presented below.

4.1. Properties of fuel blends

The main requirements to the developed alternative liquid fuels are full compatibility with the existing refuelling infrastructure and minimization (compared to petroleum-based fuels) of anthropogenic emissions throughout their life cycle.

The main sorts of biodiesel for the automotive sector are methyl esters, which are produced by transesterification of triglycerides.³⁵⁸ Biodiesel has a higher cetane number (51 and above)³⁵⁹ compared to petroleum-based diesel fuel (40–50), which promotes more efficient and clean combustion. In addition, the oxygen content in biodiesel amounts to 10-12 wt.%; this enhances the combustion process and reduces the carbon monoxide and soot emissions, but increases the emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO_x),³⁶⁰ which requires additional measures for emission control. The calorific value of biodiesel is somewhat lower (by approximately 8–10%) than that of conventional diesel fuel (this may result in a somewhat higher fuel consumption). Also, biodiesel has a higher pour point of

approximately 0°C, whereas the pour point of the commercial diesel fuel is –34°C.³⁵⁸ This may bring about complications such as increase in the fuel viscosity and filter clogging at low temperatures.³⁶¹ The reduced productivity at low temperatures requires the use of special additives or mixing with petroleum-based diesel.

and physicochemical properties The performance characteristics of biodiesel are regulated by approved state standards GOST R 53605 (Ref. 362) and GOST 33131 363 for blending methyl esters with petroleum-based fuels in various proportions. The key parameters that are to be controlled in the first stage of biodiesel production include density, viscosity, flash point, iodine number, acid number, cetane number, cloud and pour points, low-temperature fluidity, and cold filter plugging point. The iodine number is directly related to the oxidative stability of biodiesel, which can subsequently affect the formation of insoluble deposits.364,365 According to GOST R 53605, the iodine number limit for biodiesel is 120 g $I_2\!/100$ g. 362 A high acid number (more than 0.50 mg KOH cm⁻³) is undesirable, since this affects the corrosion of metal components of the fuel system.366 High density (above 860 kg m⁻³) can have an adverse effect on the fuel injection time,^{367,368} which decreases the rate of energy evolution and increases the NO_x emission.³⁶⁹ Viscosity of the fuel affects the atomization characteristics. According to GOST R 53605,362 the maximum permissible viscosity is 5.0 mm² s⁻¹. High viscosity leads to increasing degree of dispersion of fuel droplets in the combustion chamber, which results in increasing ash content^{370,371} and decreasing heat of combustion and generally reduces the efficiency of the engine;372,373 in addition, this increases the atmospheric emissions.^{371,374} The closed cup flash point should be not lower than 32°C (Ref. 363) for safe storage of the fuel in tanks. Any minor deviations of these characteristics can reduce engine efficiency and increase emissions to the environment. Full compliance with the standards is necessary for successful introduction of biodiesel into the existing automotive infrastructure.

Even more stringent requirements are imposed on the stability of aviation fuels (especially SAF). Apart from the full compliance of the physicochemical and performance characteristics with GOST 10227 (Ref. 375) and ASTM D7566-22,³⁰⁵ since 2024, a fuel should also comply with fourteen criteria,³⁷⁶ the main of which are as follows. A fuel should decrease the greenhouse emissions by 10% throughout the life cycle compared to that for petroleum-based fuels (89 g CO₂ MJ⁻¹); a fuel should not be produced from biomass collected in carbon-rich regions (coral reefs, wetlands, *etc.*); the production should maintain or improve the availability of water quality and maintain the biological condition of soil, minimize air pollution, and promote responsible waste and chemical management.

In the aviation industry, even minor deviations of characteristics are regarded as failures preventing the approval of a fuel as a commercial product. An important indicator of a developed jet fuel is thermal stability.³⁷⁷ The oxidative stability of a fuel at the operating temperature is an important performance requirement. High thermal oxidation resistance is required. The kinematic viscosity at -20° C is a value used to determine the low-temperature fluidity of fuels. A high-viscosity jet fuel can cause problems of pumping, poor atomization, incomplete combustion, and, in extreme cases, coking of fuel nozzles.³⁷⁸ Also, the content of aromatic compounds should be not lower than 8 vol.%, and a lower value may cause fuel leakage.³⁷⁹ Direct contact of SAF with polymer nitrile seals causes the seal

deformation. The problems related to measurement of the fuel tank volume and compatibility of a fuel with the existing additives should also be borne in mind.^{379–385}

However, investigation of the listed properties requires large amounts of biofuels. These large amounts cannot always be accumulated under laboratory conditions. The yield of biokerosene fraction is usually less than 5 mL. Therefore, a possible method of analytical studies is two-dimensional chromatography.³⁸⁶ Petroleum fuels are complex mixtures of hydrocarbons, the compositions of which are chosen in such a way as to provide the optimal performance and reliability of aircraft engines. The major components of this fuel are n-alkanes, isoalkanes, cycloalkanes, and aromatic hydrocarbons.386,387 Each of these classes of compounds makes a unique contribution to the fuel properties. Analysis and comparison of class compositions of fuels make it possible to evaluate the fuel applicability and predict the physicochemical properties of the fuels.³⁸⁸ For example, n-alkanes have a high calorific value and combustion stability.³⁸⁹ However, they have relatively high freezing point, which may induce the crystallization of components at low temperatures, 390, 391 typical of high altitude flights. This may induce problems with fuel fluidity and operation of the fuel supply system.³⁹¹ Isoalkanes are characterized by branched structures of molecules. This decreases the freezing point, thus improving the fuel fluidity at low temperatures.³⁹² In addition, isoalkanes have a higher octane number, which increases the anti-knock properties of the fuel and promotes more efficient combustion in the engine.48 Cycloalkanes (naphthenes) contribute to increasing density of the fuel and improve the calorific value;^{386,392} they provide stabilities at high temperatures and pressures, which is important for operation of aircraft engines under extreme conditions; however, they slow down the evaporation.³⁹³ Aromatic compounds have high octane numbers, which improves the antiknock properties of fuels. However, high concentrations of aromatic hydrocarbons can have an adverse effect on the environmental properties due to increased emissions of soot and other harmful substances upon combustion.³⁹⁴ Therefore, their content in jet fuels is usually limited by specifications.

The class composition of biokerosenes (Table 10)^{393,395–397} produced by hydrocracking of a mixture of vacuum gas oil and tall oil is similar to the compositions of conventional hydrocarbon fuels such as straight-run kerosene and hydrotreated kerosene.

A distinctive feature is low content of aromatic HCs and high content of cycloalkanes. In the former case, there is beneficial effect on the environmental characteristics,³⁹⁴ while the latter is beneficial for the fuel vaporization rate. The high content of cycloalkanes slows down the fuel vaporization,³⁹³ which results in a slower preparation of the fuel mixture. A similar effect is

 Table 10. Composition of typical conventional and alternative fuels

 according to organic classification.^{393,395–397}

	Co	Content of hydrocarbons (wt.%)					
Fuel	n-alkanes	isoalkanes	cyclo- alkanes	aromatics			
Biokerosenes	15-30	23–28	45–65	7–10			
Straight-run kerosene	25-30	28–30	20–24	20–23			
Hydrotreated kerosene	15–20	25–26	35–38	16–19			
Jet-A1	25-30	38-40	8-10	20-25			
JP-5	18-20	28-30	35-40	16-18			

observed at high contents of aromatic HCs due to their antiknock behaviour. This effect is minimized in the presence of n-alkanes and isoalkanes, due to their high reactivity.⁴⁸ Thus, understanding of the role of n-alkanes, isoalkanes, cycloalkanes, and aromatic hydrocarbons is a key for the development of effective and safe fuel mixtures and the subsequent commercialization of biofuel in both automotive and aircraft industry. Minor deviations may lead to failures and fast wear of fuel system and engine parts, which directly affects the safety of vehicle operation. The development of new fuels from biofeedstock using various chemical processes, with their catalysts and groups of parameters varying over wide limits, is a challenging problem. One way to solve this problem with decreased labour cost of testing, in order to evaluate further prospects of biofuel samples, is to design and use prognostic mathematical models; these models are based on the analytical and experimental data for some combinations of the varied parameters.^{398,399} Under these conditions, to effectively reach the final goal (development of a technology and production of commercial biofuel), it is important to integrate, at one site, the logistic and technical support for continuous testing of feedstock, intermediates, and final products including analytical and laboratory experiments and pilot tests at low-scale units.

4.2. Testing of biofuels for land and water transport

The main types of liquid fuels for land and water transport are gasolines and diesel fuels. When they are blended with biocomponents, the resulting blends are commonly called biogasolines and biodiesels. There are a few known testing units, e.g., those shown in Figs 3-5.⁴⁰⁰⁻⁴⁰² The first one (Fig. 3) can be used to record the flame parameters during the combustion of biodiesel. Most often, the flame height is determined by visual inspection or using camera images. A new concept of stoichiometric flame was proposed.400 According to this concept, the flame height is determined by the distance from the nozzle outlet to the axial position when the ratio of the fuel to the oxidant exactly corresponds to the stoichiometric ratio. The flame chemiluminescence is closely related to chemical reactions, and the chemical reactions can be monitored with the help of OH radicals. Thus, the flame height can be used to calibrate the planar laser induced fluorescence (OH-PLIF) system. The OH-PLIF system can directly provide a twodimensional distribution of the OH radical concentration in the flame during combustion. The burner is equipped with an infrared exhaust gas analyzer (MGA 5) to measure and analyze the combustion products.

A distinctive feature of the second unit (Fig. 4) is the possibility of generating a dual-fuel swirl flame. The swirling air is premixed with methane at the outlet of the burner and comes out as a swirl flow. The liquid fuel and atomizing air are fed independently to the burner inlet. Characteristics of the spray combustion and glycerol emission were determined ⁴⁰¹ using the swirl flame burner. Due to the low calorific value inherent in glycerol, the swirling air was premixed with methane to form a co-fired globally lean flame.

A swirl flame unit (Fig. 5) was developed⁴⁰² to test fuel blends and evaluate environmental indicators. The main distinctive feature of this third unit is the possibility of controlling the flow rate of the fuel by varying the injection pressure and air flow rate, which is attained by changing the power of the fan. The unit has a system for exhaust gas recirculation and heat exchange equipment, which markedly reduces harmful



Figure 3. Testing system with evaporation and spray combustion of liquid fuel biomass.⁴⁰⁰

emissions upon fuel burning. Unlike the units presented above, in this case, characteristics are analyzed not only around the combustion chamber, but also downstream of the chamber. The unit can also be used to measure the concentrations of compounds contained in exhaust gas and the temperature of the heat transfer agent in the exhaust gas cooling system after the combustion chamber. These characteristics make it possible to consider the calorific value of biofuel. The known characteristics of the fuel in the swirl burner unit can be used to determine the fuel applicability for internal combustion engines. In the case of a



Figure 4. Swirl-flame combustion testing system for dual-fuel injection of glycerol and methane.⁴⁰¹



Figure 5. Swirl burner testing system⁴⁰² (1) gas cylinder with a nitrogen pressure regulator; (2) pressure gauge; (3) fuel tank; (4) blower fan; (5) exhaust gas recirculation tract; (6) temperature sensor; (7) oxygen sensor; (8) gas analyzer probe; (9) intrachannel fan; (10) circulation pump; (11) heat transfer agent tank; (12) ignition electrodes; (13) diesel nozzle; (14) gas/air flow swirler; (15) combustion chamber with optical access; (16) heat exchanger.

positive conclusion about the possibility of using the tested fuel in ICEs, the sample enters the next stage of tests.

The experimental setup (see Fig. 5) is used to determine the flame characteristics, temperature of the oxidant in the combustion chamber, exhaust gas temperature upstream and downstream of the heat exchanger, and exhaust gas composition. Further testing of fuel blends is performed using test benches for alternative diesel fuels in the operation mode of a full-size internal combustion diesel engine without a load. The characteristics used to evaluate the engine operation efficiency with the test fuel include: fuel consumption rate, power, engine speed at which a particular value is achieved, CO concentration in the exhaust gas, and CO_2 , NO, SO_2 , NO_2 , and CH_4 concentrations.

Biofuels of two types consisting of waste engine oil and jatropha oil have been studied.⁴⁰⁰ In experiments, characteristic features of biodiesel vaporization, atomization, and combustion were identified. In particular, it was shown that the laminar flame height of pre-blended biodiesel increased with increasing equivalence factor (*F*), while the flame of biodiesel made of waste engine oil had a lower height than the flame of the jatropha oil biodiesel. Thus, the area of the flame front during the combustion was smaller in the case of waste oil biodiesel than for jatropha oil biodiesel. The CO concentration was minimized for *F* of 1.1 and was considerably higher for *F* ranging from 1.1 to 2.0. The emissions of CO₂ followed the opposite trend. The CO/CO₂ ratio in the exhaust gas was higher for the jatropha biodiesel than for waste oil biodiesel. Carbon monoxide was mainly formed *via* the following elementary reaction:

 $OH+CO \leftrightarrow H'+CO_2$

with CO formation being suppressed by higher OH radical intensity. The concentrations of NO decreased with

increasing F. Thus, the jatropha biodiesel generates more emissions than the waste oil biodiesel.

Considerable attention in the scientific literature is paid to both biodiesel production and determination of optimal conditions of engine operation with this fuel.⁴⁰³ It was found⁴⁰³ that the brake thermal efficiency was 3.5% lower for biodiesel (B100) than for conventional diesel. At a rated load, the brake specific energy consumption was 36% higher for B100 than for diesel. The brake specific energy consumption was found to decrease with increasing amount of the biodiesel blend. The NO concentrations at the rated load were 6% higher for the biodiesel (B100) than for the diesel fuel. The emissions of unburnt hydrocarbons and smoke were lower than those for the diesel fuel by 22% and 23%, respectively. The CO₂ emission at the rated load was 4% higher in the case of biodiesel than in the case of conventional diesel, while CO emission was 0.4% lower for the biodiesel due to high concentration of oxygen, resulting in complete combustion of the biodiesel.

Table 11 indicates ^{402–404} the most widely used conditions for determination of fuel characteristics from the engineering standpoint (EGR is the exhaust gas recirculation, i.e., increased injection pressure).405-407 Three types of distribution of weighting coefficients in the weighted sum method were applied, namely: V1 corresponded to the basic calculation and equal distribution of the coefficients among the types of parameters; V2 implied strong domination of the weighting coefficient (0.6) for the fuel price per litre criterion; and V3 implied strong domination of the environmental criterion. According to the first method, the biofuel B12 was most similar to the common diesel fuel in the performance (weighted sum of criteria). In the approach where the cost of fuel was the crucial factor, the weighted sum of criteria for biodiesels decreased almost 2-3-fold, and the amount of bioadditive to diesel fuel had a proportional effect on the biofuel performance. Considering the anthropogenic effect (V3), the weighted sum of criteria for rapeseed biodiesel B12 exceeded that for the diesel fuel. This confirms the expediency of using biofuels as fuel additives.

4.3. Testing of biofuels for aviation

A setup for testing alternative fuels for aviation purposes (Fig. 6a) with variable pressure and temperature and the fuel injection system (single droplet, group of droplets, and spray) was designed at the National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.405 A unique feature is that a broad range of components of exhaust gases can be detected using advanced high-precision gas-analyzing equipment capable of operating at high temperatures and high gas flow velocities. The key performance characteristics of typical aircraft installations include thrust-cost and altitude-climatic characteristics. A procedure developed 406 for the control of thrust characteristics of a gas turbine engine (GTE) is based on a change in the geometry of the air-fuel stream out of the nozzle. Particularly GTEs are used to construct testing systems for jet fuels. Pilot tests with a basic nozzle and with a throttle cone oriented toward the fuel-air stream. The testing results were obtained ⁴⁰⁷ by combustion of alternative liquid fuel blends based on dimethyl ester/biodiesel/Jet A-1. It was found that a decrease in the nozzle surface area by 23% is accompanied by a 20% decrease in the rotation frequency of turbine blades. Correspondingly, the temperature of exhaust gas increases by 250 K, the thrust decreases by 30%, but the noise level decreases. The above changes are due to a decrease in the air consumption. Specific features of GTE design widely used in aircraft model engineering

			Weigł	nt	Sample				
Type of parameter	Characteristic	V1	V1 V2 V3 diesel B6 bio- diesel		B12 bio- diesel	B100 bio- diesel (FAME)			
Hydrodynamic parameter (with a flow swirler at a fuel injection pressure of 1.2 MPa)	Total number of sprayed particles N (pieces)	0.2	0.1	0.1	135 000	105 000	97000	88000	
Kinematic parameter (with a flow swirler at a fuel injection pressure of 1.2 MPa)	Absolute liquid droplet velocity $U(m/s)$	0.2	0.1	0.1	20	19	20.5	20.8	
Energy parameters	Ignition delay time τ_{delay} (s) at 700°C in the combustion chamber	0.1	0.05	0.05	1.50	1.58	1.37	1.25	
	Flame temperature in the combustion chamber t (°C) under EGR at the fuel injection pressure of 1.2 MPa	0.1	0.05	0.05	650	648	645	640	
Environmental parameters under EGR at the equivalence coefficient $\lambda = 1$ at a	Concentration of NO_x (ppm) in exhaust gas	0.1	0.05	0.3	55.1	68.6	49.7	46.7	
fuel injection pressure of 1.2 MPa	CO/CO ₂ concentration ratio in exhaust gas	0.1	0.05	0.3	0.47	0.44	0.27	0.37	
Price of fuel in Russia (roubles per litre)	For FAME, the cost of nanomembrane production is included; data for commercial diesel ⁴⁰⁴	0.2	0.6	0.1	59.52	112.95	166.38	950	
		Yes	No	No	0.92	0.75	0.80	0.72	
Weighted	sum of criteria	No	Yes	No	0.96	0.64	0.58	0.39	
		No	No	Yes	0.81	0.70	0.88	0.79	

Table 11. Summary data on test characteristics and results of calculation of fuel efficiency	y coefficient using the weighted sum method.402-404
--	---

Note. The reference fuel with the best performance within each row of the Table is highlighted in green colour; the digits in the names of biofuels B6, B12, B100 reflect the concentration of the biocomponent mixed with the conventional diesel fuel. FAME are fatty acid methyl esters.



Figure 6. Testing system 405 with heating of droplets and sprays of alternative liquid fuels (*a*) and micro gas turbine engines (*b*): (*1*) battery; (*2*) GTE control board; (*3*) pulse width modulation device; (*4*) GTE-180 fuel injection valve; (*5*) GTE-250 fuel injection valve; (*6*) drain valve; (*7*) GTE control block; (*8*) measurement block; (*9*) gas analyzer; (*10*) gas analyzer probe; (*11*) noise and vibration analyzer; (*12*) automatic workstation with a bench mimic diagram.

were distinguished.⁴⁰⁸ The calculated altitude-velocity and throttle characteristics of GTE and the results of subsequent thermal gas dynamic calculation were presented. It was found that the dynamic compression ratio in the compressor and the compressor efficiency can be estimated in the simplified form by multidimensional interpolation of specification characteristics of centrifugal compressors. The dependences of the compression ratio and the compressor efficiency on the relative current density and reduced rotation frequency were determined. The

results of the thermal gas dynamic calculations of GTE by numerical modelling methods were demonstrated.⁴⁰⁹ The procedure was validated by determination of the thrust characteristics of GTE. The advantages and disadvantages of this procedure compared with other methods were described.⁴⁰⁹

The setup shown in Fig. 6b was designed⁴⁰⁵ to carry out firing bench tests involving combustion of liquid fuels in micro gas turbine engines with rated thrust of 180 and 250 N and engine classification in terms of throttle characteristics, thermal

gas dynamic parameters, noise, vibration, and emission characteristics. A cycle of firing bench tests involves recording of GTE operation characteristics such as thrust; static pressure in the inlet channel; static pressure in the compressor; total pressure in the compressor, combustion chamber, and turbine; turbine rotation speed; inlet air temperature; and temperature in the compressor, downstream of the turbine, and at the nozzle edge. The gas analyzer measures the concentrations of O₂, CO, CO₂, NO, NO₂, N₂O, SO₂, CH₄, and C₃H₈. The unique character of the system is the possibility of detecting a broad range of exhaust gas components with fast-response gas analyzing equipment capable of operating at elevated temperatures and gas flow rates.

In the experimental studies and tests carried out at the National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University, integral performance characteristics of engine and power systems operating on conventional and alternative fuels were determined. The method of weighted sums was applied for multicriteria evaluation of the efficiency of fuel blends.⁴¹⁰ The calculation of the final performance indicators of micro-GTEs using liquid fuels included the following stages: (1) definition of the evaluation criteria; (2) normalization of the selected criteria; (3) assigning weighting coefficients to each normalized criterion; and (4) calculation of the final performance indicator by the formula

$$A_{\rm n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i \overline{x}_i \,, \tag{17}$$

where w_i is the weighting coefficient; \bar{x}_i is the normalized evaluation criterion; *n* is the number of evaluation criteria; A_n is the final integral performance indicator.

In the case of GTE, the key evaluation characteristics include fuel consumption (*B*), thrust (*P*), net efficiency ($\eta_{\rm EF}$), noise level (sound pressure), vibration level, CO₂ concentration, CO concentration, NO concentration, SO₂ concentration, C_xH_y concentration, NO₂ concentration, N₂O concentration, and CH₄ concentration. For fuel consumption, sound pressure, vibration level, and concentrations of CO, CO₂, NO, NO₂, N₂O, SO₂, CH₄, and C₃H₈ emissions, the optimal values are the lowest ones. The optimal value for the thrust to efficiency ratio is the highest one. Figure 7 illustrates a typical example of comparison of the integral performance indicators of two small-sized gas



Figure 7. Typical example of integral performance indicators of testing units:⁴⁰⁵ (*1*) GTE-180 at 33 000 rpm; (*2*) GTE-180 at 124 300 rpm; (*3*) GTE-250 at 35 000 rpm; (*4*) GTE-250 at 115 900 rpm.

turbine units operating on liquid fuels at minimum and maximum rotation frequencies of turbine blades.

5. Conclusion

Analysis of the results of studies presented in this review makes it possible to identify several most relevant tasks, the solution of which will markedly accelerate the wide use of alternative liquid fuels for power and engine systems. The range of feedstock for the industrial production of effective fuel blends is considerably limited. The examples of synthesis of alternative liquid fuels from rapeseed and tall oils, their esters, cooking fats, and biomass-derived syngas highlighted in this review cannot always be replicated for a long term because of limited amount of resources in particular regions. Flexible mechanisms are required to modify fuel production processes considering changes in the components and their properties. The processes of fuel production from bio-feedstock are rather lengthy and, in early stages, they give relatively small amounts of products. Research centres with test benches and regulatory framework are needed to provide the possibility of testing new fuel samples at all stages of their life cycle. The optimization of fuel production taking into account a wide range of potential components, diversity of component properties, and diversity of process characteristics (30 to 50 simultaneously controlled variables) throughout the fuel life cycle can be successfully performed only using big data processing methods. It is necessary to apply artificial intelligence technologies for rational selection of fuel blends and for selecting the design and conditions of their production processes, and conditions for all stages of fuel life cycle with the goal to achieve the maximum performance indicators of alternative liquid fuels in comparison with conventional ones. It is necessary to develop process digital twins to predict the performance characteristics of the entire life cycle (production, storage, transportation, atomization, combustion) of alternative liquid fuels under different external conditions. The use of appropriate digital twins can help to optimize the industrial processes and conditions. This will bring about the possibility of fast fuel testing in experimental units to obtain multicriteria performance coefficients for fuel compositions and for particular types of power and engine systems. In this case, it is possible to objectively predict changes in environmental, energy, economic, engineering, and other parameters of operation of industrial units and whole industries.

The performed comparative analysis demonstrates that scientific grounds for the production of alternative liquid fuel components have been developed in Russia for various feedstocks: coal beneficiation and oil refining wastes, used industrial oils and plastics, agricultural and wood processing wastes, vegetable oils, fatty acid esters, industrial effluents, tar decanter sludge, resins, used cooking fats, silt and hydrate deposits, and microalgae. According to the data on the properties of fuel blends and their conversion characteristics highlighted in this review, oil production and coal beneficiation wastes, used cooking fats, biomass and vegetable feedstock can be distinguished as the most promising feedstocks. Considering multicriteria evaluation of logistical, environmental, energy, and techno-economic indicators, transesterification, catalytic cracking, and hydrocracking are most ready for the industrial production of alternative liquid fuels. In order to create the industry of non-petroleum fuels, it is necessary to arrange a system for fuel production and testing throughout the life cycle with minimum amounts of samples focusing on the integrated tackling of problems such as waste disposal; involvement of regional resources for energy sovereignty; reduction of the rate of consumption of fossil feedstock; decrease in the emissions and improving the performance of power and energy systems.

6. Acknowledgments

This work was stimulated by the desire to design an integrated system of production, control of main properties and characteristics, examination and testing of new-generation alternative liquid fuels with improved techno-economic, environmental, and energy performance for engine and power systems. At the Heat and Mass Transfer Laboratory of the National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University, Project No. PISh-NIR-2024-009 (agreement No. 075-15-2022-1146 dated July 7, 2022) is implemented in the framework of the Advanced Engineering School with the goal to compose a database of properties of promising fuel components and blends, characteristics of their life cycle (from the synthesis to combustion at small-scale laboratory and full-size test benches). The team of authors would like to thank the staff of the institutions they represent for the assistance in preparing this review.

7. List of abbreviations and symbols

- $A_{\rm n}$ integral performance indicator,
- B fuel consumption,
- F equivalence coefficient (–),
- *n* number of evaluation criteria,
- p pressure (MPa),
- P thrust (N),
- SAF sustainable aviation fuel,
- t temperature (°C),
- τ time (h),
- τ_{delay} ignition delay time (s),
- U liquid droplet velocity (m/s),
- w_i weighting coefficient (–),
- \overline{x}_i normalized,
- η_{EF} net efficiency (%).
- FTS Fischer-Tropsch synthesis,
- GTE gas-turbine engine,
- HC hydrocarbons,
- ICE internal combustion engine,
- MPW mixed plastic waste,
- TO thermolysis oil,
- VGO vacuum gas oil,
- VHSV volume hourly space velocity (h⁻¹),
- WHSV weight hourly space velocity (h^{-1}) .

8. Information about the authors

P.A.Strizhak. Doctor of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Corresponding Member of RAS, Professor at the I.N.Butakov Scientific and Educational Center, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.

E-mail: pavelspa@tpu.ru

Current research interests: physics, power engineering, chemistry, mechanics, general and complex problems of technical and applied sciences, mathematics, environmental protection.

S.M.Aldoshin. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Academician of RAS, Scientific Director at the Federal Research Center of Problems of Chemical Physics and Medicinal Chemistry RAS.

E-mail: aldoshin@icp.ac.ru

Current research interests: crystal chemistry, quantum chemistry, solid state chemistry, materials science, information technology.

D.O.Glushkov. Doctor of Technical Sciences, Professor at the Research School of Physics of High-Energy Processes, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.

E-mail: dmitriyog@tpu.ru

Current research interests: chemistry, power engineering, physics, mechanics, chemical technology, chemical industry, cybernetics, environmental protection.

K.I.Dement'ev. Candidate of Chemical Sciences, Deputy Director at the A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis RAS.

E-mail: kdementev@ips.ac.ru

Current research interests: heterogeneous catalysis, catalytic cracking, polymer waste processing, biomass processing, decarbonization, hydrogen.

E.N.Ivashkina. Doctor of Technical Sciences, Professor at the Division for Chemical Engineering of the School of Earth Sciences and Engineering, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University. E-mail: ivashkinaen@tpu.ru

Current research interests: chemical technology, chemical industry, chemistry, cybernetics, geology, power engineering, mining, mathematics.

M.V.Kulikova. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Chief Researcher, Head of the A.N.Bashkirov Catalytic Synthesis Sector, A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis RAS.

E-mail: m_kulikova@ips.ac.ru

Current research interests: chemistry, chemical technology, chemical industry, physics, biology.

A.L.Maximov. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Academician of RAS, Director at the A.V.Topchiev Institute of Petrochemical Synthesis RAS.

E-mail: max@ips.ac

Current research interests: chemistry, chemical technology, chemical industry, biology, biotechnology, mechanical engineering, science studies.

G.Yu.Nazarova. Candidate of Technical Sciences, Associate Professor at the Division for Chemical Engineering of the School of Earth Sciences and Engineering, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.

E-mail: silko@tpu.ru

Current research interests: chemical technology, chemical industry, chemistry, cybernetics, geology, power engineering, mining, mathematics.

A.S.Noskov. Doctor of Engineering Sciences, Corresponding Member of RAS, Head of the Research Direction at the Federal Research Center Boreskov Institute of Catalysis SB RAS.

E-mail: noskov@catalysis.ru

Current research interests: chemistry, construction, architecture, mechanical engineering, chemical technology, chemical industry, metallurgy, physics, mechanics.

V.N.Parmon. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Academician of RAS, Scientific Director at the Federal Research Center Boreskov Institute of Catalysis SB RAS.

E-mail: parmon@sb-ras.ru

Current research interests: chemistry, chemical technology, chemical industry, physics, biology, power engineering, science studies.

K.K.Paushkina. Research engineer of Research School of Physics of High-Energy Processes at the National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.

E-mail: kkp1@tpu.ru

Current research interests: power engineering, physics, mechanics, chemistry, chemical technology, chemical industry, environmental protection.

E.V.Popok. Candidate of Technical Sciences, Associate Professor at the Division for Chemical Engineering of the School of Earth Sciences and Engineering, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University. E-mail: evgensan@tpu.ru

Current research interests: chemical technology, chemical industry, chemistry, cybernetics, geology, power engineering, mining, mathematics.

A.S.Sviridenko. PhD student at the Research School of Physics of High-Energy Processes, National Research Tomsk Polytechnic University.

E-mail: ass125@tpu.ru

Current research interests: power engineering, physics, mechanics, chemistry, chemical technology, chemical industry, environmental protection.

L.S.Yanovsky. Doctor of Technical Sciences, Corresponding Member of RAS, Head of the Department of Special Aircraft Engines and Chemmotology, P.I.Baranov Central Institute for Aviation Motor Development.

E-mail: lsyanovskiy@ciam.ru

Current research interests: mechanical engineering, chemical technology, chemical industry, chemistry, power engineering, mechanics, physics, mathematics.

9. References

- J.W.G.Turner, F.C.P.Leach. In Alternative Fuels and Advanced Vehicle Technologies for Improved Environmental Performance. (Elsevier, 2022). P. 19; https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90979-2.00019-6
- S.A.Padder, R.Khan, R.A.Rather. *Biomass Bioenergy*, 185, 107220 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOMBIOE.2024.107220
 G.S.Ha, M.M.El-Dalatony, M.B.Kurade, E.S.Salama, B.Basak, D.Kang, H.S.Roh, H.Lim, B.H.Jeon. *Bioresour: Technol.*, **309**, 123333 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123333
- P.Duarah, D.Haldar, A.K.Patel, C.-D.Dong, R.R.Singhania, M.K.Purkait. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 348, 126791 (2022); https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.126791
- A.T.Ubando, W.-H.Chen, D.A.Hurt, A.Conversion, S.Rajendran, S.-L.Lin. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **366**, 128168 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.128168
- A.Chandra. *Biofuels Annual*. (Beijing, 2024); https://www.fas.usda.gov/data/malaysia-biofuels-annual-3
- S.Vickram, S.Manikandan, S.R.Deena, J.Mundike R.Subbaiya, N.Karmegam, S.Jones, K.K.Yadav, S.Chang, B.Ravindran, M.K.Awasth. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **387**, 129660 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2023.129660
- 8. World Bioenergy Association (WBA). *Global Bioenergy Statistics Report*, 2024;
- https://www.worldbioenergy.org/global-bioenergy-statistics/
 G.Kant, A.Hasan, P.Yadav, A.Pandey, S.Srivastava. *Biomass Bioenergy*, **196**, 107757 (2025);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2025.107757
- R.Cabrera-Jiménez, J.M.Mateo-Sanz, J.Gavaldà, L.Jiménez, C.Pozo. *Appl. Energy*, **307**, 118201 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.118201
- P.A.Strizhak, D.V.Antonov, S.M.Aldoshin, L.S.Yanovsky. Chem. Technol. Fuels Oils, 6 (646), 56 (2024)
- R.Arora, K.S.Nigha, P.Verma, R.K.Wanchoo, A.P.Toor. J. Indian Chem. Soc., 101 (2), 101123 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JICS.2024.101123
- B.A.A.Balboul, A.A.Abdelrahman, H.M.Salem, E.A.Mohamed, D.I.Osman, A.M.Rabie. J. Mol. Liq., 367, 120562 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLLIQ.2022.120562
 14. H.Hasanudin, W.R.Asri, M.Said, P.T.Hidayati, W.Purwaningrum, N.Novia, K.Wijaya. *RSC Adv.*, **12** (26),
- 16431 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2RA02438A
 A.Baig, Sonal. In *Emerging Biofuels*. (Elsevier, 2024). P. 151; https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-99547-4.00009-5
- 16. V.G.Bakun, R.E.Yakovenko, A.N.Saliev, S.I.Sulima, N.D.Zemlyakov, S.V.Nekroenko. *Eng. J. Don*, 47 (4 (47)) (2017); https://doi.org/10.26889/9781907555848
- K.Srikumar, Y.H.Tan, J.Kansedo, I.S.Tan, N.M.Mubarak, M.L.Ibrahim, P.N.Y.Yek, H.C.Y.Foo, R.R.Karri, M.Khalid. *Biomass Bioenergy*, **185**, 107239 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOMBIOE.2024.107239

- S.N.Hassan, Y.M.Sani, A.R.Abdul Aziz, N.M.N.Sulaiman, W.M.A.W.Daud. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, 89, 349 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2014.09.050
- M.Kaltschmitt, U.Neuling. *Biokerosene*. (Eds M.Kaltschmitt, U.Neuling). (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer, 2018); https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53065-8
- M.Ozkan, A.B.Narappa, T. Namboodiri, Y.Chai, M.Babu, J.S.E.Jennings Y.Gao. S.Tasneem, J.Lam, K.R.Talluri, R.Shang, C.S.Ozkan, J.M.Watkins. *iScience*, 27 (3), 109154 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2024.109154
- M.A.Bashir, S.Lima, H.Jahangiri, A.J.Majewski, M.Hofmann, A.Hornung, M.Ouadi. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 163, 105498 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaap.2022.105498
- 22. J.Heyne, B.Rauch, P.Le Clercq, M.Colket. *Fuel*, **290**, 120004 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.120004
- R.C.Boehm, L.C.Scholla, J.S.Heyne. *Fuel*, **304**, 121378 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.121378
- S.Seyam, I.Dincer, M.Agelin-Chaab. Fuel, **319**, 123748 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.123748
- C.Uysal, Ü.Ağbulut, E.Elibol, T.Demirci, M.Karagoz, S.Saridemir. *Fuel*, **327**, 125167 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.125167
- Y.Kroyan, M.Wojcieszyk, O.Kaario, M.Larmi. *Energy*, 255, 124470 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2022.124470
- A.Alam, P.Dwivedi. J. Clean. Prod., 239, 117817 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117817
- Y.Kroyan, M.Wojcieszyk, O.Kaario, M.Larmi, K.Zenger. *Energy*, 205, 117854 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.117854
- P.Kurzawska. *Transp. Res. Procedia*, **59**, 38 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2021.11.095
- 30. C.Friedrich, P.A.Robertson. *CEAS Aeronaut. J.*, **6**, 279 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1007/s13272-014-0144-x
- R.Wrobel, B.Scholes, A.Mustaffer, S.Ullah, D.Reay, B.Mecrow, A.Hussein. In 2019 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE). (Baltimore, MD, 2019). P. 753; https://doi.org/10.1109/ECCE.2019.8912308
- A.Gittens, S.Hocquard, A.de Juniac, F.Liu, E.Fanning. Aviation Benefits Report//Convention on International Civil Aviation, 2019. 76 p.
- International Air Transport Association. IATA Sustainable Aviation Fuel Roadmap. (1st Edn). 2015. 119 p.
- 34. Z.Said, T.H.Nguyen, P.Sharma, C.Li, H.M.Ali, Van N.Nguyen, Van V.Pham, S.F.Ahmed, D.N.Van, T.H.Truong. *Fuel*, **324**, 124759 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124759
- H.Sun, A.Anderson, M.F.Albeshr, A.Fahad Alrefaei, Q.Hoang Le, B.Gavurová, R.Shanmuganathan. *Fuel*, **355**, 129467 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2023.129467
- A.H.Tanzil, K.Brandt, X.Zhang, M.Wolcott, E.E.Silva Lora, C.Stockle, M.Garcia-Perez. *Fuel*, **321**, 123992 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.123992
- Air Transport Action Group (ATAG). Beginner's Guide to Sustainable Aviation Fuel; https://aviationbenefits.org/ media/168027/atag-beginners-guide-to-saf-edition-2023.pdf
- S.S.Doliente, A.Narayan, J.F.D.Tapia, N.J.Samsatli, Y.Zhao, S.Samsatli. Front. Energy Res., 8, 38 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2020.00110
- J.G.B.Churchill, V.B.Borugadda, A.K.Dalai. *Renew. Sustain.* Energy Rev., 191, 114098 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.114098
 40. N.Chai, W.Zhou. Fuel, 327, 125180 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.125180
- H.Kwon, A.Lele, J.Zhu, C.S.McEnally, L.D.Pfefferle, Y.Xuan, A.C.T.van Duin. *Fuel*, **279**, 118548 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.118548
- A.Lele, H.Kwon, K.Ganeshan, Y.Xuan, A.C.T.van Duin. Fuel, 297, 120724 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.120724

- Y.Xu, X.Rao, Z.Guo, Z.Liu, H.Yin, H.Hu, C.Yuan. *Eng. Fail. Anal.*, 160, 108156 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engfailanal.2024.108156
 44. R.F.B.Goncalves, B.K.V.Iha, J.A.F.F.Rocco, A.E.Kuznetsov. *Fuel*, **310**, 122157 (2022);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.122157
- M.Sui, Z.Zhu, F.Li, H.Wang. Combust. Flame, 259, 113180 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.combustflame.2023.113180
- 46. Y.Wang, S.Gong, H.Wang, L.Li, G.Liu. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 155, 105045 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaap.2021.105045
- K.S.Mehra, V.Goel, R.Kumar. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, 309, 118461 (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2024.118461 48. J.H.Gary, J.H.Handwerk, M.J.Kaiser, D.Geddes. *Petroleum*
- *Refining*. (5th Edn). (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2007); https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203907924
- R.X.Chen, W.C.Wang. *Renew. Energy*, **135**, 819 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.12.048
- Y.K.Chen, C.H.Hsieh, W.C.Wang. *Renew. Energy*, **157**, 731 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2020.04.154
- D.J.Cronin, S.Subramaniam, C.Brady, A.Cooper, Z.Yang, J.Heyne, C.Drennan, K.K.Ramasamy, M.R.Thorson. *Energies*, 15 (4), 1306 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/en15041306
- J.Xu, F.Long, J.Jiang, F.Li, Q.Zhai, F.Wang, P.Liu, J.Li. J. Clean. Prod., 222, 784 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.094
- 53. Z.Zhang, Q.Wang, X.Zhang. Catalysts, 9, 455 (2019)
- R.El-Araby, E.Abdelkader, G.El Diwani, S.I.Hawash. Bull. Natl. Res. Cent., 44 177 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-020-00425-6
- M.Wang, M.He, Y.Fang, J.Baeyens, T.Tan. *Catal. Commun.*, 100, 237 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catcom.2017.07.009
- 56. F.Long, X.Cao, X.Jiang, Q.Zhai, J.Zhao, S.Yu, J.Jiang, J.Xu. J. Energy Inst., 100, 109 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2021.11.003
- 57. J.A.Melo, M.S.de Sá, A.Moral, F.Bimbela, L.M.Gandía, A.Wisniewski. *Nanomaterials*, **11** (7), 1659 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11071659
- M.Sarker, M.M.Rashid, M.S.Rahman, M.Molla. *Int. J. Energy Environ.*, 3 (6), 871 (2012)
- M.Sarker. Aviation Fuel Derived from Waste Plastics. In Aerospace Technology Conference and Exposition. (SAE International, 2009). P. 5; https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-3206
- W.L.Kubic, C.M.Moore, T.A.Semelsberger, A.D.Sutton. Front. Energy Res., 9, 1 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2021.728682 61. M.Sarker. *Energy Eng.*, **108** (2), 35 (2011);
- https://doi.org/10.1080/01998595.2011.10389018 62. O.Ali, M.Tolaymat, S.Hu, G.Xie, J.P.Raufman. *Int. J. Mol.*
- *Sci.*, **22** (2), 760 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22020716 63. C.Wang, H.Lei, X.Kong, R.Zou, M.Qian, Y.Zhao, W.Mateo.
- *Sci. Total Environ.*, **779**, 146463 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146463 64. Y.Liu. *Reactions*, **1** (2), 195 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.3390/reactions1020014
- A.López-Fernández, D.Bolonio, I.Amez, B.Castells, M.F.Ortega, M.J.García-Martínez. *Energies*, 14 (19), 6035 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/en14196035
- X.Lin, H.Lei, E.Huo, M.Qian, W.Mateo, Q.Zhang, Y.Zhao, C.Wang, E.Villota. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, 211, 112757 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.112757
- C.Park, H.Choi, K.Y.Andrew Lin, E.E.Kwon, J.Lee. *Energy*, 230, 120876 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.120876
 68. Y.Zhang, D.Duan, H.Lei, E.Villota, R.Ruan. *Appl. Energy*, 251, 113337 (2019);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113337

- P.A.Nikul'shin. Abstract of the Dissertation of Doctor of Chemical Sciences: 02.00.15, 02.00.13, Moscow, 2015
- R.Sotelo-Boyas, F.Trejo-Zarraga, F.de Jesus Hernandez-Loyo. In *Hydrogenation*. (InTech, 2012); https://doi.org/10.5772/48710
- Renewables 2020. Analysis and Forecast to 2025. (Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020); https://www.iea.org/reports/renewables-2020
- 72. E.Titova, E.Sivak. *Russ. J. Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, **7** (1) (2020); https://doi.org/10.15862/04ECOR120
- United Nations Environment Programme. Global Waste Management Outlook 2024: Beyond an Age of Waste – Turning Rubbish into a Resource; United Nations Environment Programme. (Nairobi, 2024); https://doi.org/10.59117/20.500.11822/44939
- 74. Z.Ali, P.Rathnakumar, M.Ashfaq Hussain, E.Roma, M.Nagaral, M.Umar. *Mater. Today Proc.*, **52**, 716 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2021.10.131
- K.Miezah, K.Obiri-Danso, Z.Kádár, S.Heiske, B.Fei-Baffoe, M.Mensah, A.S.Meyer. *Waste Biomass Valor.*, 8, 115 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-016-9566-5
- V.A.Markov, V.G.Kamaltdinov, S.S.Loboda. *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, **327** (2), 022068 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/327/2/022068
- High-Level Meeting on International Aviation and Climate Change – Agenda Item 1: Aspirational Goals and Implementation Options. International Civil Aviation Organization. (Montréal: HLM-ENV/09-WP/1, 2009)
- A.Moldabekov, N.Moldabekova, A.Abay. *Bull. KazATC*, **124** (1), 433 (2023); https://doi.org/10.52167/1609-1817-2023-124-1-442-451
- 79. V.A.Markov, V.G.Kamaltdinov, A.D.Denisov, L.I.Bykovskaja. J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 1260 (5), 052021 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1260/5/052021
- A.Singh, D.Pant, N.E.Korres, A.-S.Nizami, S.Prasad, J.D.Murphy. *Bioresour: Technol.*, **101** (13), 5003 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.11.062
- X.Fan, H.Sun, Z.Yuan, Z.Li, R.Shi, N.Razmjooy. *Energy Rep.*, 6, 325 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2020.01.009
- K.G.Georgogianni, A.K.Katsoulidis, P.J.Pomonis, G.Manos, M.G.Kontominas. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **90** (7–8), 1016 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2009.03.002
- Lawrence. Am. J. Environ. Sci., 7 (2), 145 (2011); https://doi.org/10.3844/ajessp.2011.145.149
- A.Kawashima, K.Matsubara, K.Honda. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99 (9), 3439 (2008);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2007.08.009
 85. S.H.Shuit, Y.T.Ong, K.T.Lee, B.Subhash, S.H.Tan. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **30** (6), 1364 (2012);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.02.009
- P.Hernández-Hipólito, N.Juárez-Flores, E.Martínez-Klimova, A.Gómez-Cortés, X.Bokhimi, L.Escobar-Alarcón, T.E.Klimova. *Catal. Today*, **250**, 187 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2014.03.025
- M.Farooq, A.Ramli, D.Subbarao. J. Clean. Prod., 59, 131 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.06.015
- M.A.Dubé, A.Y.Tremblay, J.Liu. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **98** (3), 639 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.02.019
- E.Bet-Moushoul, K.Farhadi, Y.Mansourpanah, A.M.Nikbakht, R.Molaei, M.Forough. *Fuel*, **164**, 119 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2015.09.067
- Z.-E.Tang, S.Lim, Y.-L.Pang, H.-C.Ong, K.-T.Lee. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 92, 235 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.04.056
- V.I.Anikeev, E.Y.Yakovleva. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 77, 100 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2013.02.018
- N.Mansir, S.H.Teo, U.Rashid, M.I.Saiman, Y.P.Tan, G.A.Alsultan, Y.H.Taufiq-Yap. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 82, 3645 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.10.098
- E.O.Naor, M.Koberg, A.Gedanken. *Renew. Energy*, **101**, 493 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.09.007

- A.U.Ishbaeva, L.A.Talipova, R.N.Shakhmaev, S.S.Vershinin, L.V.Spirikhin. *Bashk. Khim. Zh.*, 16 (0869–8406), 36 (2009)
- G.A.Kovalenko, L.V.Perminova, A.B.Beklemishev,
 E.Yu.Yakovleva, M.B.Pykhtina. *Katal. Prom-ti*, (6), 71 (2014)
- G.V.Korotkova, Y.A.Timanovsky, A.S.Fadeeva. *Modern Sci. Innov.*, (1), 219 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.37493/2307-910X.2022.1.23 97. Z.Franco, Q.D.Nguyen. *Fuel*, **90** (2), 838 (2011);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.09.044
 98. M.Balat. Energy Convers. Manage., 52 (2), 1479 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.10.011
- A.W.Schwab, M.O.Bagby, B.Freedman. Fuel, 66 (10), 1372 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-2361(87)90184-0
- H.Fukuda, A.Kondo, H.Noda. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 92 (5), 405 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-1723(01)80288-7
- 101. B.Freedman, E.H.Pryde, T.L.Mounts. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 61 (10), 1638 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02541649
- D.Darnoko, M.Cheryan. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 77 (12), 1263 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-000-0198-y
- A.Ben Hassen Trabelsi, K.Zaafouri, W.Baghdadi, S.Naoui, A.Ouerghi. *Renew. Energy*, **126**, 888 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.04.002
- 104. W.A.Wan Mahari, C.T.Chong, W.H.Lam, T.N.S.T.Anuar, N.L.Ma, M.D.Ibrahim, S.S.Lam. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, 171, 1292 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2018.06.073
 105. S.Wellert, M.Karg, H.Imhof, A.Steppin, H.-J.Altmann, M.Dolle, A.Richardt, B.Tiersch, J.Koetz, A.Lapp, T.Hellweg. J. Colloid Interface Sci., 325 (1), 250 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2008.05.062
- L.Leng, P.Han, X.Yuan, J.Li, W.Zhou. *Energy*, **153**, 1061 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.04.087
- 107. U.R.Kreutzer. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., **61** (2), 343 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02678792
- 108. A.Srivastava, R.Prasad. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 4 (2), 111 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-0321(99)00013-1
- 109. V.A.Markov, S.N.Devyanin, V.G.Semenov, A.V.Shakhov, V.V.Bagrov. Ispol'zovanie Rastitel'nykh Macel i Topliv na ikh Osnove v Dizel'nykh Dvigatelyakh. (Use of Vegetable Oils and Fuels Based on them in Diesel Engines). (Moscow: Inzhener, 2011)
- A.N.Ivankin, A.N.Zarubina, G.L.Oliferenko, A.S.Kuleznev, A.V.Kulikovskii. For. Bull., 24 (5), 97 (2020); https://doi.org/10.18698/2542-1468-2020-5-97-103
- 111. R.Mikulášik, I.Šurina, S.Katuščák, J.Cvengroš, M.Polovka. In Chemicke Listy, 2008. Vol. 102, P. s552
- 112. D.Altıparmak, A.Keskin, A.Koca, M.Gürü. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **98** (2), 241 (2007);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.01.020
 113. A.Keskin, A.Yaşar, M.Gürü, D.Altıparmak. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, **51** (12), 2863 (2010);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.06.025
- 114. A.Keskin, M.Gürü, D.Altiparmak. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99 (14), 6434 (2008);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2007.11.051
 115. A.Keskin, M.Gürü, D.Altiparmak. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recover. Util. Environ. Eff.*, **32** (20), 1899 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1080/15567030903078061
- A.Keskin, M.Gürü, D.Altıparmak. *Fuel*, **86** (7–8), 1139 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2006.10.021
- 117. M.Mofijur, S.Y.A.Siddiki, M.B.A.Shuvho, F.Djavanroodi, I.M.R.Fattah, H.C.Ong, M.A.Chowdhury, T.M.I.Mahlia. *Chemosphere*, **270**, 128642 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128642
- 118. Monika, S.Banga, V.V.Pathak. *Energy Nexus*, **10**, 100209 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nexus.2023.100209
- 119. S.S.Jagadale, L.M.Jugulkar, M.Intensity. Int. J. Mod. Eng. Res., 2 (2), 407 (2012)
- 120. J.Hu, F.Yu, Y.Lu. *Catalysts*, **2** (2), 303 (2012); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal2020303

- R.G.dos Santos, A.C.Alencar. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 45 (36), 18114 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2019.07.133 122. P.McKendry. *Bioresour: Technol.*, **83** (1), 55 (2002);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00120-1 123. A.Kumar, D.D.Jones, M.A.Hanna. *Energies*, **2** (3), 556 (2009); https://doi.org/10.3390/en20300556
- 124. L.Zhang, C.(Charles) Xu, P.Champagne. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, **51** (5), 969 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2009.11.038 125. A.V.Bridgwater. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **91** (2–3), 87 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1385-8947(02)00142-0
- 126. M.Ostadi, K.Dalane, E.Rytter, M.Hillestad. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **139**, 186 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUPROC.2015.07.022 127. Z.Ud Din, Z.A.Zainal. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **53**, 1356
- (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2015.09.013 128. Y.Neubauer. *J. Sustain. Energy Environ.*, (Spec. Issue), 67
- (2011)
 129. P.J.Woolcock, R.C.Brown. *Biomass Ioenergy*, **52**, 54 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.036
- O.O.James, A.M.Mesubi, T.C.Ako, S.Maity. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **91** (2), 136 (2010);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUPROC.2009.09.017 131. S.S.Ail, S.Dasappa. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **58**, 267
- (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2015.12.143
 132. M.H.Rafiq, H.A.Jakobsen, R.Schmid, J.E.Hustad. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **92** (5), 893 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUPROC.2010.12.008
- 133. A.Wang, M.Luo, B.Lü, Y.Song, Z.Yang, M.Li, B.Shi, I.Khan. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 61 (11), 3941 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.1c03810
- 134. K.W.Jun, H.S.Roh, K.S.Kim, J.S.Ryu, K.W.Lee. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **259** (2), 221 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APCATA.2003.09.034
- T. Řiedel, M. Člaeys, H.Schulz, G.Schaub, S.-S.Nam,
 K.-W.Jun, M.-J.Choi, G.Kishan, K.-W.Lee. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **186** (1–2), 201 (1999);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-860X(99)00173-8
- R.W.Dorner, D.R.Hardy, F.W.Williams, B.H.Davis, H.D.Willauer. *Energy Fuels*, **23** (8), 4190 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/EF900275M
- G.A.Olah. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 44 (18), 2636 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.200462121
- F.Simard, U.A.Sedran, J.Sepúlveda, N.S.Fígoli, H.I.de Lasa. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **125** (1), 81 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1016/0926-860X(94)00275-4
- S.Liu, A.C.Gujar, P.Thomas, H.Toghiani, M.G.White. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 357 (1), 18 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APCATA.2008.12.033
- 140. J.Street, F.Yu, J.Wooten, E.Columbus, M.G.White, J.Warnock. *Fuel*, **96**, 239 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2011.12.036
- 141. F.Diehl, A.Y.Khodakov. *Oil Gas Sci. Technol. Rev. l'IFP*, **64** (1), 11 (2009); https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst:2008040
- 142. G.Jacobs, T.K.Das, Y.Zhang, J.Li, G.Racoillet, B.H.Davis. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 233 (1–2), 263 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-860X(02)00195-3
- 143. C.M.Lok. In *Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis*, (Elsevier, 2004). Vol. 147, P. 283; https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2991(04)80065-X
- 144. A.Y.Khodakov, A.Griboval-Constant, R.Bechara, V.L.Zholobenko. J. Catal., 206 (2), 230 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1006/jcat.2001.3496
- 145. C.Kibby, K.Jothimurugesan, T.Das, H.S.Lacheen, T.Rea, R.J.Saxton. *Catal. Today*, **215**, 131 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2013.03.009
- 146. J.Li, G.Jacobs, T.Das, Y.Zhang, B.Davis. Appl. Catal. A: Gen., 236 (1–2), 67 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-860X(02)00276-4

- M.A.Eshmukhamedov, M.M.Kavkatbekov, A.A.Abduvaliev, A.A.Rakhmatov, T.V.Pomamareva. *Nauka cherez Prizmu Vremeni*, **38** (5), 27 (2020)
- 148. I.I.Mirgayazov, A.I.Abdullin. Vesn. Kazan' Tekhnol. Univ., 17 (9), 258 (2014)
- N.Mabena. In 18th World Petroleum Congress. (Johannesburg, 2005. P. WPC-18-0971 2005.
- M.Menon. In Offshore Technology Conference Asia. (OTC, 2016); https://doi.org/10.4043/26473-MS
- 151. S.Kanshio, H.O.Agogo, T.J.Chior. In Society of Petroleum Engineers – Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition 2017. (SPE, 2017). P. 1510; https://doi.org/10.2118/189120-ms
- Escravos Gas-to-Liquids Project, Niger Delta Offshore Technology; https://www.offshore-technology.com/projects/escravos/ (accessed 2025-03-14)
- Chevron's Escravos GTL Late and Costly. Energy Intelligence; https://www.energyintel.com/0000017b-a7c9-de4c-a17be7cba46e0000/ (Last access 2025-03-14)
- 154. Wood Mackenzie. *Escravos GTL Report*; https://www. woodmac.com/reports/upstream-oil-and-gas-escravosgtl-19005114/ (Last access 2025-03-14)
- 155. Patent RU 2641299 C1 (2018)
- M.V.Kulikova, O.S.Dement'eva, M.I.Ivantsov,
 P.A.Chernavskii. *Nanoheterogen. Catal.*, 3 (2), 136 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S2414215818020077
- A.E.Kuz'min, M.V.Kulikova, A.L.Maksimov. Nanoheterogen. Catal., 4 (1), 3 (2019)
- 158. A.Y.Krylova, A.S.Lyadov, M.V.Kulikova, S.N.Khadzhiev. *Pet. Chem.*, **52** (2), 74 (2012);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544112010045 159. M.V.Kulikova, O.S.Dement'eva, S.I.Norko. *Pet. Chem.*, **60** (1), 75 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.31857/S0028242120010098 160. M.V.Kulikova, O.S.Dement'eva, M.Yu.Gorshkova.
- *Pet. Chem.*, **58** (5), 855 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544118100092
- M.V.Kulikova. Catal. Today, 348, 89 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATTOD.2019.09.036
- M.V.Kulikova, S.N.Khadzhiev. Pet. Chem., 57 (12), 1173 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544117060202
- M.V.Kulikova, O.S.Dement'eva, S.O.Ilyin, S.N.Khadzhiev. *Pet. Chem.*, 57 (14), 1318 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544117140055
 164. M.I.Ivantsov, S.A.Sviderskii, K.O.Krysanova, A.E.Sotnikova, M.V.Kulikova. *Chem. Sustan. Develop.*, **31** (5), 522 (2023); https://doi.org/10.15372/KHUR2023497
- 165. A.A.Vasilev, M.N.Efimov, G.N.Bondarenko, D.G.Muratov, E.L.Dzidziguri, M.I.Ivantsov, M.V.Kulikova, G.P.Karpacheva. *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **730**, 8 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CPLETT.2019.05.034
- 166. A.A.Vasilev, M.I.Ivantsov, E.L.Dzidziguri, M.N.Efimov, D.G.Muratov, M.V.Kulikova, N.A.Zhilyaeva, G.P.Karpacheva. *Fuel*, **310**, 122455 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2021.122455
- O.L.Eliseev, A.S.Volkov, V.S.Budtsov, A.L.Lapidus. Dokl. Chem., 413 (2), 79 (2007)
- 168. A.L.Lapidus, V.S.Budtsov, O.L.Eliseev, A.S.Volkov. *Khim. Tv. Topl.*, (6), 35 (2008)
- V.N.Sanin, V.N.Borshch, D.E.Andreev, D.M.Ikornikov, V.I.Yukhvid, S.Y.Zhuk, N.V.Sachkova, A.L.Lapidus, O.L.Eliseev. Adv. Mater. Technol., (1), 036 (2018); https://doi.org/10.17277/AMT.2017.04.PP.036-040
- A.A.Dergachev, M.V.Krylova, B.P.Tonkonogov, A.A.Silakova, A.Yu.Krylova, A.L.Lapidus. *Khim. Tv. Topl.*, (3), 40 (2002)
- 171. A.L.Lapidus. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, **40**, 2335 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00959701

- 172. A.S.Andreev, O.B.Lapina, J.-B.d'Espinose de Lacaillerie, A.A.Khassin. J. Struct. Chem., 54 (S1), 102 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0022476613070093
- 173. P.Scholzen, G.Lang, A.S.Andreev, A.Quintana, J.Malloy, C.J.Jensen, K.Liu, J.B.d'Espinose de Lacaillerie. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 24 (19), 11898 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CP05164D
- A.S.Andreev, D.V.Krasnikov, V.I.Zaikovskii,
 S.V.Cherepanova, M.A.Kazakova, O.B.Lapina,
 V.L.Kuznetsov, J.B.d'Espinose de Lacaillerie. *J. Catal.*, 358, 62 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCAT.2017.11.025
- V.N.Soromotin, R.E.Yakovenko, A.V.Medvedev, S.A.Mitchenko. *Kinet. Catal.*, **62** (6), 845 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1134/S002315842106015X
- 176. R.E.Yakovenko, V.G.Bakun, M.R.Agliullin, S.I.Sulima, I.N.Zubkov, V.V.Pyatikonova, E.A.Bozhenko, A.P.Savost'yanov. *Pet. Chem.*, **62** (8), 950 (2022); https://doi.org/10.53392/27130304_2022_4_2_137
- V.N.Soromotin, R.E.Yakovenko, T.V.Krasnyakova,
 R.D.Svetogorov, S.A.Mitchenko. *Kinet. Catal.*, **63** (6), 765 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158422060131
- V.N.Soromotin, R.E.Yakovenko, S.A.Lavrenov, D.V.Telegin, S.A.Mitchenko. *Eng. J. Don*, (9), 1 (2022)
- 179. Patent RU 2685437 C2 (2019)
- L.Sineva, K.Gryaznov, V.De, A.Gorshkov, V.Mordkovich. *Reactions*, 4 (1), 92 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/reactions4010004
- Q.Wang, H.Li, L.Chen, X.Huang. Carbon, **39** (14), 2211 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6223(01)00040-9
- 182. X.Sun, Y.Li. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 43 (5), 597 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.200352386
- 183. A.N.Stranges. Isis, 75 (4), 643 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1086/353647
- 184. Z.Liu, S.Shi, Y.Li. Chem. Eng. Sci., 65 (1), 12 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CES.2009.05.014
- 185. S.Vasireddy, B.Morreale, A.Cugini, C.Song, J.J.Spivey. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, **4** (2), 311 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0EE00097C
- 186. J.Park, C.Park, H.Kim, H.Jung, C.Han. Korean Chem. Eng. Res., 46 (2), 248 (2008)
- 187. T.Li, G.Wang, H.Zhou, X.Ning, C.Zhang. Sustainability, 14 (8), 4407 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/su14084407
- X.Zhuang, Y.Song, H.Zhan, X.Yin, C.Wu. Fuel, 260, 116320 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116320
- R.Feiner, N.Schwaiger, H.Pucher, L.Ellmaier, A.Reiter, M.Derntl, T.Glatz, P.Pucher, M.Siebenhofer. *BioEnergy Res.*, 7 (4), 1343 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-014-9469-x
- C.Li, S.Ashida, M.Iino, T.Takanohashi. *Energy Fuels*, **14** (1), 190 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/EF990125T
- 191. M.Trautmann, S.Lang, Y.Traa. Fuel, 151, 102 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2015.01.006
- 192. Y.K.Ong, S.Bhatia. *Energy*, **35** (1), 111 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2009.09.001
- 193. K.D.Maher, D.C.Bressler. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **98** (12), 2351 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2006.10.025
- 194. R.Palos, E.Rodríguez, A.Gutiérrez, J.Bilbao, J.M.Arandes. Fuel, **309**, 122055 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.122055
- 195. A.Eschenbacher, R.J.Varghese, M.S.Abbas-Abadi, K.M.Van Geem. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **428**, 132087 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.132087
- 196. E.Heracleous, E.F.Iliopoulou, K.Drakaki, M.C.Papapetrou, D.K.Iatridis, A.A.Lappas. *Catal. Today*, **379**, 141 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2020.08.006
- M.Talmadge, C.Kinchin, H.Li Chum, A.de Rezende Pinho, M.Biddy, M.B.B.de Almeida, L.Carlos Casavechia. *Fuel*, 293, 119960 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.119960
- R.Palos, A.Gutiérrez, F.J.Vela, M.Olazar, J.M.Arandes, J.Bilbao. *Energy Fuels*, **35** (5), 3529 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c03918

- 199. R.Grauke, S.A.Schunk, S.Hanf, C.P.Kelkar, D.Köpke, K.E.Finger, S.Wodarz, M.Paul, K.Friese. In *Chemical Recycling – Beyond Thermal Use of Plastic and other Waste*. (DGMK, 2021)
- 200. X.Dupain, D.J.Costa, C.J.Schaverien, M.Makkee, J.A.Moulijn. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ*, **72** (1–2), 44 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2006.10.005
- V.P.Doronin, O.V.Potapenko, P.V.Lipin, T.P.Sorokina. *Katal. Prom-ti*, (6), 61 (2013)
- 202. R.Quintana-Solorzano, J.W.Thybaut, G.B.Marin. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **314** (2), 184 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2006.08.020
- 203. J.Abbot. J. Catal., **126** (2), 684 (1990); https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9517(90)90033-G
- 204. S.Raseev. In *Thermal and Catalytic Processes in Petroleum Refining*. (CRC Press, 2003). 920 p.;
- https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203912300.ax1 205. Y.V.Kissin. *Catal. Rev.*, **43** (1–2), 85 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1081/CR-100104387
- 206. P.V.Lipin, O.V.Potapenko, T.P.Sorokina, V.P.Doronin. *Pet. Chem.*, **59** (7), 657 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1134/s0028242119040099
- 207. B.W.Wojciechowski, A.Corma. *Catalytic Cracking: Catalysts, Chemistry and Kinetics.* (Marcel Dekker, Inc, 1990)
- 208. álvaro Ibarra, R.Palos, J.M.Arandes, M.Olazar, J.Bilbao, H.de Lasa. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, **59** (17), 8145 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.0c00869
- 209. E.Rodríguez, R.Palos, A.Gutiérrez, J.M.Arandes, J.Bilbao. Waste Manage., 105, 18 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2020.01.026
- F.Knaus, A.Reichhold, W.Tesch, A.Pazos Costa, H.Lutz, M.Büchele. In *Preprints of the Conference Chemical Recycling*. (DGMK, 2021). P. 68
- S.D.Stefanidis, K.G.Kalogiannis, A.A.Lappas. Wires Interdiscip. Rev. Energy Environ., 7 (3), e281 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/WENE.281
- 212. T.A.Palankoev, K.I.Dementiev, S.N.Khadzhiev. *Pet. Chem.*, 59 (4), 438 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S096554411904011X 213. T.A.Palankoev, K.I.Dementiev, S.N.Khadzhiev. *Pet. Chem.*, **59** (7), 675 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544119070119 214. T.Prasomsri, A.T.To, S.Crossley, W.E.Alvarez, D.E.Resasco.
- *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.*, **106** (1–2), 204 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APCATB.2011.05.026
- 215. C.Wang, M.Li, Y.Fang. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, **55** (12), 3525 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.5b03008
- 216. I.Graça, J.M.Lopes, M.F.Ribeiro, F.Ramôa Ribeiro, H.S.Cerqueira, M.B.B.de Almeida. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.*, **101** (3–4), 613 (2011);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.grapth.2010.11.002
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2010.11.002 217. T.A.Palankoev, K.I.Dement'ev, D.V.Kuznetsova,
- G.N.Bondarenko, A.L.Maximov. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 8 (29), 10892 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.0c03215
- T.A.Palankoev, K.I.Dement'ev, D.V.Kuznetsova, R.S.Borisov, A.L.Maximov, S.N.Khadzhiev. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **431**, 134228 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEJ.2021.134228
- V.P.Doronin, P.V.Lipin, O.V.Potapenko, V.V.Vysotsky, T.I.Gulyaeva, T.P.Sorokina. *Katal. Prom-ti*, **18** (4), 31 (2018); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0387-2018-4-31-40
- 220. P.V.Lipin, O.V.Potapenko, T.P.Sorokina, V.P.Doronin. Petrol. Chem., 62 (8), 886(2022); https://doi.org/10.53392/27130304 2022 4 2 76
- 221. P.V.Lipin, O.V.Potapenko, T.P.Sorokina, V.P.Doronin. *Pet. Chem.*, **61** (1), 60 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544121010060
- I.A.Khalafova, N.K.Andryushenko. *Chem. Probl.*, **20** (3), 229 (2022); https://doi.org/10.32737/2221-8688-2022-3-229-241
- 223. A.V.Kravtsov. Neftepererabotka i Neftekhimiya. Nauchno-Tekhnicheskie Dostizheniya i Peredovoi Opyt. (Oil Refining

and Petrochemistry. Scientific and Technical Achievements and Advanced Experience). (Moscow: TsNIITEnergokhim, 2012). No. 8. P. 11 (2012)

- 224. Green Diesel: An Alternative to Biodiesel and Petrodiesel. (Eds M.Aslam, S.Shivaji Maktedar, A.K.Sarma). (Singapore: Advances in Sustainability Science and Technology; Springer Nature Singapore, 2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2235-0
- 225. E.Johnson. *Energies*, **12** (2), 250 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3390/en12020250
- M.Rabaev, M.V.Landau, R.Vidruk-Nehemya, V.Koukouliev, R.Zarchin, M.Herskowitz. *Fuel*, **161**, 287 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2015.08.063
- 227. C.A.Scaldaferri, V.M.D.Pasa. Fuel, 245, 458 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.01.179
- 228. D.Verma, R.Kumar, B.S.Rana, A.K.Sinha. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, **4** (5), 1667 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/c0ee00744g
- 229. N.M.Mkhize, B.B.Sithole, M.G.Ntunka. J. Wood Chem. Technol., 35 (5), 374 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1080/02773813.2014.984079
- 230. N.V.Sizova, I.V.Pikuleva, T.M.Chikunova. *Khim. Rast. Syr* 'ya, (2), 27 (2003)
- 231. M.Žula, M.Grilc, B.Likozar. Chem. Eng. J., 444, 136564 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2022.136564
- 232. J.Mikulec, J.Cvengroš, Ľ.Joríková, M.Banič, A.Kleinová. J. Clean. Prod., 18 (9), 917 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.01.018
- S.A.Selishcheva, M/Y/Lebedev, S.I.Reshetnikov, L.I.Turusov, V.A.Yakovlev. *Katal. Promysh-ti*, 5, 73 (2013)
- 234. M.Krár, S.Kovács, D.Kalló, J.Hancsók. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101 (23), 9287 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.107
- 235. O.V.Kikhtyanin, A.E.Rubanov, A.B.Ayupov, G.V.Echevsky. *Fuel*, **89** (10), 3085 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.05.033
- 236. Yu.A.Chumachenko, M.V.Trenikhin, V.P.Talzi, T.I.Gulyaeva, E.A.Paukshtis. *Kinet. Catal.*, **58** (5), 563 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158417050032
- 237. Yu.A.Chumachenko, A.V.Lavrenov, T.I.Gulyaeva,
 A.B.Arbuzov, E.A.Buluchevskiy, V.A.Drozdov. *Chem. Sustan. Develop.*, 23 (6), 661 (2015); https://doi.org/10.15372/KhUR20150605
- P.Mäki-Arvela, M.Martínez-Klimov, D.Y.Murzin. *Fuel*, **306**, 121673 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.121673
- B.Donnis, R.G.Egeberg, P.Blom, K.G.Knudsen. Top. Catal., 52 (3), 229 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-008-9159-z
- 240. P.Šimáček, D.Kubička. *Fuel*, **89** (7), 1508 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2009.09.029
- 241. Patent RU 2689416 (2019)
- 242. Patent RU 2726796 (2020)
- 243. C.Templis, A.Vonortas, I.Sebos, N.Papayannakos. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.*, **104** (3–4), 324 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2011.03.012
- R.Sotelo-Boyás, Y.Liu, T.Minowa. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 50 (5), 2791 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie100824d
- 245. C.Tóth, P.Baladincz, S.Kovács, J.Hancsók. *Clean Technol. Environ. Policy*, **13** (4), 581 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1007/S10098-011-0364-2
- 246. A.A.Lappas, S.Bezergianni, I.A.Vasalos. *Catal. Today*, **145** (1–2), 55 (2009);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATTOD.2008.07.001
- S.Bezergianni, A.Kalogianni, I.A.Vasalos. *Bioresour: Technol.*, 100 (12), 3036 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.01.018
- 248. G.W.Huber, P.O'Connor, A.Corma. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **329**, 120 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2007.07.002
- 249. T.M.Sankaranarayanan, M.Banu, A.Pandurangan, S.Sivasanker. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **102** (22), 10717 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.08.127
- 250. Patent RU 2712637 (2020)

- 251. R.Tiwari, B.S.Rana, R.Kumar, D.Verma, R.Kumar, R.K.Joshi, M.O.Garg, A.K.Sinha. *Catal. Commun.*, **12** (6), 559 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATCOM.2010.12.008
- A.Guzman, J.E.Torres, L.P.Prada, M.L.Nuñez. *Catal. Today*, 156 (1–2), 38 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2009.11.015
- 253. M.Nasikin, B.H.Susanto, M.A.Hirsaman, A.Wijanarko. *World Appl. Sci. J.*, 5 (Special Issue for Environment), 74 (2009)
- 254. O.Y.Sang, F.Twaiq, R.Zakaria, A.R.Mohamed, S.Bhatia. *Energy Sources*, **25** (9), (2003); https://doi.org/10.1080/00908310390221309
- 255. T.Morgan, E.Santillan-Jimenez, A.E.Harman-Ware, Y.Ji, D.Grubb, M.Crocker. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **189–190**, 346 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.02.027
- 256. P.Šimáček, D.Kubička, I.Kubičková, F.Homola, M.Pospíšil, J.Chudoba. *Fuel*, **90** (7), 2473 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2011.03.013
- 257. J.Hancsók, T.Kasza, S.Kovács, P.Solymosi, A.Holló. J. Clean. Prod., 34, 76 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.01.036
- S.Kovács, T.Kasza, A.Thernesz, I.W.Horváth, J.Hancsók. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **176–177**, 237 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2011.05.110
- 259. A.V.Volkova. *Rynok Krupnotonnazhnykh Polimerov.* (*Large-tonnage Polymers Market.*) (Higher School of Economics, 2020). 74 p.
- 260. V.A.Gavrilenko. Neftegaz. RU, (3), 24 (2020)
- 261. O.Speranskaya, O.Ponizova, O.Tsitser, Ya.Gurskii. Plastik i Plastikovye Otkhody v Rossii: Situatsiya, Problemy i Rekomendatsii. (Plastic and Plastic Waste in Russia: Situation, Problems and Recommendations) (International Pollutants Elimination Network, 2021). p. 92
- 262. *Heinrich Boll Stiftung: Plastic Atlas 2019*; https://www.boell.de/en/plasticatlas (Last access 12.03.2024)
 262. *Heinrich Boll Stiftung: Plastic Atlas 2019*; https://www.boell.de/en/plasticatlas (Last access 12.03.2024)
- 263. K.V.PRzaev. Polimnye Materialy, (8), 8 (2018)
- 264. M.A.Hazrat, M.G.Rasul, M.M.K.Khan, A.K.Azad, M.M.K.Bhuiya. *Energy Procedia*, **61**, 1681 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.12.191
- M.Shahabuddin, M.T.Alam, B.B.Krishna, T.Bhaskar, G.Perkins. *Bioresour: Technol.*, **312**, 123596 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123596
- 266. D.Vamvuka, C.Arvanitidis, D.Zachariadis. Environ. Eng. Sci., 21 (4), 525 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1089/1092875041358557
- 267. V.Palma, C.Ruocco, M.Martino, E.Meloni, A.Ricca. In *Bioenergy Systems for the Future*. (Elsevier, 2017). P. 217; https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-101031-0.00007-7
- 268. G.Li, S.Xu, X.Zhao, R.Sun, C.Wang, K.Liu, Q.Mao, D.Che. *Energy*, **194**, 116901 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.116901
 269. D.C.Dayton, B.Turk, R.Gupta. Syngas Cleanup, Conditioning, and Utilization. In *Thermochemical Processing of Biomass*.
- (Wiley, 2019). P. 125; https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119417637.ch5
- A.K.Panda, R.K.Singh, D.K.Mishra. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **14** (1), 233 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2009.07.005
- 271. V.K.Kaimal, P.Vijayabalan. *Waste Manage.*, **51**, 91 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.03.003
- 272. R.K.Singh, B.Ruj, A.K.Sadhukhan, P.Gupta, V.P.Tigga. *Fuel*, **262**, 116539 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116539
- 273. Z.Dobó, Z.Jakab, G.Nagy, T.Koós, K.Szemmelveisz, G.Muránszky. *Energy*, **189**, 116353 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.116353
- S.Kumar, R.Prakash, S.Murugan, R.K.Singh. *Energy Convers.* Manage., 74, 323 (2013);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2013.05.028 275. P.Das, J.-C.P.Gabriel, C.Y.Tay, J.-M.Lee. *Chemosphere*, **269**, 129409 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.129409

- 276. L.Quesada, M.Calero, M.A.Martín-Lara, A.Pérez, G.Blázquez. *Energy*, **186**, 115874 (2019);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.115874 277. S.Uçar, S.Karagöz, T.Karayildirim, J.Yanik. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **75** (1), 161 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(01)00215-4
- H.Song, D.C.W.Tsang, G.Kwon, E.E.Kwon, D.W.Cho. Sci. Total Environ., 696, 133951 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.133951
- 279. B.S.S.Phanisankar, N.Vasudeva Rao, J.E.Manikanta. Mater. Today Proc., 33, 5190 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MATPR.2020.02.880
- K.Akubo, M.A.Nahil, P.T.Williams. J. Energy Inst., 92, 195 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2017.10.009
- 281. S.Wang, H.Kim, D.Lee, Y.R.Lee, Y.Won, B.W.Hwang, H.Nam, H.J.Ryu, K.H.Lee. *Fuel*, **305**, 121440 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2021.121440
- O.V.Klimov, K.A.Nadeina, O.V.Potapenko, Yu.V.Vatutina, A.V.Saiko, V.A.Koveza, P.P.Mukhacheva, V.S.Krestyaninova, A.S.Yurtaeva, T.S.Bogomolova, A.A.Salomatina, E.Yu.Gerasimov, I.P. Prosvirin, A.S.Noskov. *Fuel*, **349**, 128651 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2023.128651
- O.V.Klimov, K.A.Nadeina, A.V.Saiko, V.S.Krestyaninova, Y.V.Vatutina, T.S.Bogomolova, A.A.Salomatina, P.A.Dolgushev. *Ecol. Ind. Russ.*, 27 (2), 15 (2023); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0395-2023-2-15-21
- 284. T.S.Bogomolova, M.Yu.Smirnova, K.A.Nadeina, A.A.Salomatina, V.S.Krestyaninova, Yu.V.Vatutina, P.P.Mukhacheva, O.V.Klimov. *Ecol. Ind. Russ.*, **29** (2), 30 (2025); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0395-2025-2-30-36
- 285. O.V.Klimov, K.A.Nadeina, A.V.Saiko, V.S.Krestyaninova, Y.V.Vatutina, T.S.Bogomolova, A.A.Salomatina, P.P.Mukhacheva, M.Y.Smirnova, E.Yu.Gerasimov, M.A.Panafidin, O.V.Potapenko, V.A.Koveza, A.S.Yurtaeva. In Mezhdunarodnaya Nauchno-tekhnicheskaya Konferentsiya 'Kataliz v Promyshlennosti i Problemy Ekologii'. (International Scientific and Technical Conference 'Catalysis in Industry and Environmental Issues') (Tashkent, 2024). P. 28
- 286. V.A.Koveza, O.V.Potapenko, A.V.Lavrenov. *Katal. Promysh-ti*, **23** (4), 45 (2023); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0387-2023-4-45-64
- 287. R.Mawhood, E.Gazis, S.de Jong, R.Hoefnagels, R.Slade. *Biofuels, Bioprod. Biorefining*, **10** (4), 462 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1644
- B.Sharma, C.Larroche, C.G.Dussap. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 313, 123630 (2020);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2020.123630
 289. D.Kennes, H.N.Abubackar, M.Diaz, M.C.Veiga, C.Kennes. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 91 (2), 304 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4842
- 290. S.Bastian, X.Liu, J.T.Meyerowitz, C.D.Snow, M.M.Y.Chen, F.H.Arnold. *Metab. Eng.*, **13** (3), 345 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2011.02.004
- 291. E.Rochón, G.Cortizo, M.I.Cabot, M.T.García Cubero, M.Coca, M.D.Ferrari, C.Lareo. *Fuel*, **281**, 118593 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.118593
- J.Pechstein, U.Neuling, J.Gebauer, M.Kaltschmitt. Biokerosene. (Berlin: Springer, 2018). P. 543; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53065-8 21
- 293. A.L.Maximov, I.P.Beletskaya. Russ. Chem. Rev., 93 (1), RCR5101 (2024); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5101
- 294. S.G.Zlotin, K.S.Egorova, V.P.Ananikov, A.A.Akulov, M.V.Varaksin, O.N.Chupakhin, V.N.Charushin, K.P.Bryliakov, A.D.Averin, I.P.Beletskaya, E.L.Dolengovski, Yu.H.Budnikova, O.G.Sinyashin, Z.N.Gafurov, A.O.Kantyukov, D.G.Yakhvarov, A.V.Aksenov, M.N.Elinson, V.G.Nenajdenko, A.M.Chibiryaev, N.S.Nesterov, E.A.Kozlova, O.N.Martyanov, I.A.Balova, V.N.Sorokoumov, D.A.Guk, E.K.Beloglazkina, D.A.Lemenovskii, I.Yu.Chukicheva, L.L.Frolova, E.S.Izmest'ev, I.A.Dvornikova,
 - A.V.Popov, A.V.Kuchin, D.M.Borisova, A.A.Kalinina,

A.M.Muzafarov, I.V.Kuchurov, A.L.Maximov, A.V.Zolotukhina. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **92** (12), RCR5104 (2023); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5104

- 295. K.I.Dement'ev, O.S.Dementeva, M.I.Ivantsov, M.V.Kulikova, M.V.Magomedova, A.L.Maximov, A.S.Lyadov, A.V.Starozhitskaya, M.V.Chudakova. *Pet. Chem.*, 62, 445 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544122050012
- 296. U.Olsbye, S.Svelle, M.Bjørgen, P.Beato, T.V.W.Janssens, F.Joensen, S.Bordiga, K.P.Lillerud. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 51 (24), 5810 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201103657
- 297. A.Galadima, O.Muraza. J. Nat. Gas Sci. Eng., 25, 303 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jngse.2015.05.012
- 298. T.Mokrani, M.Scurrell. *Catal. Rev.*, **51** (1), 1 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1080/01614940802477524
- 299. M.Stöcker. Microporous Mesoporous Mater., 29 (1–2), 3 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1387-1811(98)00319-9
- 300. S.N.Khadzhiev, M.V.Magomedova, E.G.Peresypkina. Pet. Chem., 56, 181 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544116030063
- 301. I.A.Makaryan, I.V.Sedov. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, **96** (6), 619 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070427223060010
- 302. M.Jafari, S.Ashtab, A.Behroozsarand, K.Ghasemzadeh, D.A.Wood. *Gas Process. J.*, 6 (1), 1 (2018); https://doi.org/10.22108/GPJ.2018.111048.1028
- 303. Y.Zhang, A.H.Sahir, E.C.D.Tan, M.S.Talmadge, R.Davis, M.J.Biddy, L.Tao. *Green Chem.*, **20** (23), 5358 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1039/C8GC01257A
- 304. H.Wei, W.Liu, X.Chen, Q.Yang, J.Li, H.Chen. Fuel, 254, 115599 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.06.007
- 305. ASTM D7566-22. Standard Specification for Aviation Turbine Fuel Containing Synthesized Hydrocarbons. (West Conshohocken, PA: ASTM International, 2022). P. 1; https://doi.org/10.1520/D7566-17
- 306. M.Z.A.Khan, H.A.Khan, S.S.Ravi, J.W.Turner, M.Aziz. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **183**, 113483 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113483
- 307. S.Geleynse, K.Brandt, M.Garcia-Perez, M.Wolcott, X.Zhang. *ChemSusChem.*, **11** (21), 3728 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/CSSC.201801690
- 308. P.Tian, Y.Wei, M.Ye, Z.Liu. ACS Catal., 5 (3), 1922 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.5b00007
- 309. M.Zhang, Y.Yu. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 52 (28), 9505 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie401157c
- A.Micek-Ilnicka, E.Bielańska, L.Lityńska-Dobrzyńska, A.Bielański. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 421–422, 91 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2012.02.001
- 311. Y.Hu, N.Zhan, C.Dou, H.Huang, Y.Han, D.Yu, Y.Hu. Biotechnol. J., 5 (11), 1186 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201000139
- 312. T.K.Phung, L.Proietti Hernández, A.Lagazzo, G.Busca. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 493, 77 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2014.12.047
- 313. B.G.Harvey, H.A.Meylemans. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 86 (1), 2 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2540
- 314. J.Wu, H.-J.Liu, X.Yan, Y.-J.Zhou, Z.-N.Lin, S.Mi, K.-K.Cheng, J.-A.Zhang. *Catalysts*, 9 (1), 93 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal9010093
- J.D. Taylor, M.M.Jenni, M.W.Peters. *Top. Catal.*, **53** (15–18), 1224 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-010-9567-8
- 316. H.Zhang, X.Li, Y.Zhang, S.Lin, G.Li, L.Chen, Y.Fang, H.Xin, X.Li. *Energy Environ. Focus*, **3** (3), 246 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1166/eef.2014.1107
- 317. B.H.Babu, M.Lee, D.W.Hwang, Y.Kim, H.-J.Chae. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **530**, 48 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2016.11.020
- N.Y.Chen, W.E.Garwood. *Catal. Rev. Sci. Eng.*, 28 (2–3), 185 (1986); https://doi.org/10.1080/01614948608082251
- 319. S.Teketel, W.Skistad, S.Benard, U.Olsbye, K.P.Lillerud, P.Beato, S.Svelle. ACS Catal., 2 (1), 26 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/cs200517u
- 320. Patent US 20240247198 (2024)

- H.Kim, D.Kim, Y.-K.Park, J.-K.Jeon. Res. Chem. Intermed., 44 (6), 3823 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1007/s11164-018-3385-1 322. D.Lee, H.Kim, Y.-K.Park, J.-K.Jeon. *Catalysts*, **8** (10), 456
- (2018); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8100456
- B.G.Harvey, R.L.Quintana. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 3 (3), 352 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1039/b924004g
- 324. Patent US 28373012 (2011)
- 325. X.Guo, L.Guo, Y.Zeng, R.Kosol, X.Gao, Y.Yoneyama, G.Yang, N.Tsubaki. *Catal. Today*, **368**, 196 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2020.04.047
- 326. W.-C.Wang, L.Tao. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **53**, 801 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.016
- 327. A.Galadima, O.Muraza. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, **54** (29), 7181 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.5b01443
- 328. N.M.Eagan, M.D.Kumbhalkar, J.S.Buchanan, J.A.Dumesic, G.W.Huber. *Nat. Rev. Chem.*, 3 (4), 223 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-019-0084-4
- 329. Patent US 20140088326 (2012)
- 330. A.A.Nepomnyashchii, E.R.Saibulina, E.A.Buluchevskiy, T.I.Gulyaeva, R.M.Mironenko, O.V.Potapenko, A.V.Lavrenov. *Katal. Promysh-ti*, **23** (4), 64 (2023); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0387-2023-4-64-74
- 331. A.A.Nepomnyashchii, E.R.Saibulina, E.A.Buluchevskii, T.I.Gulyaeva, V.L.Yurpalov, R.M.Mironenko, O.V.Potapenko, A.V.Lavrenov. *Katal. Promysh-ti*, **23** (5), 25 (2023); https://doi.org/10.18412/1816-0387-2023-5-25-34
- 332. A.A.Nepomnyashchii, E.A.Buluchevskii, A.V.Lavrenov. *Pet. Chem.*, **59**, 1049 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965544119090123
- H.Rong, D.Zhao, T.Cai, S.Becker. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, 233, 121180 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2023.121180 334. H.Yang, S.Yan, D.Yao, H.Luo, K.Zeng, J.Li, D.Zhong,
- H.Xiao, H.Chen. *Fuel*, **333** (P2), 126496 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.126496
- 335. S.Du, H.Yang, K.Qian, X.Wang, H.Chen. Fuel, 117 (Part B), 1281 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2013.07.085
- 336. Y.Li, H.Yang, J.Hu, X.Wang, H.Chen. Fuel, 117 (Part B), 1174 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2013.08.066
- 337. H.Song, H.Yang, C.Zhao, J.Hu, J.Zou, P.Wu, S.Li, H.Chen. *Fuel*, **307**, 121863 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.121863
- 338. Z.Dong, H.Yang, Z.Liu, P.Chen, Y.Chen, X.Wang, H.Chen. *Fuel*, **303**, 121237 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.121237
- 339. Z.Zhang, J.E., Y.Deng, M.Pham, W.Zuo, Q.Peng, Z.Yin. Energy Convers. Manage., 159, 244 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2017.12.098
- 340. X.Li, D.Zhao, X.Yang, H.Wen, X.Jin, S.Li, H.Zhao, C.Xie, H.Liu. *Appl. Energy*, **169**, 481 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.01.060
- B.Wang, D.Zhao, W.Li, Z.Wang, Y.Huang, Y.You, S.Becker. *Prog. Aerosp. Sci.*, **116**, 100620 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paerosci.2020.100620
- 342. A.Zare, T.A.Bodisco, P.Verma, M.Jafari, M.Babaie, L.Yang, M.M.Rahman, A.Banks, Z.D.Ristovski, R.J.Brown, S.Stevanovic. *Energy Convers. Manage.*, **209**, 112604 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.112604
- 343. Z.Żhang, J.Hu, D.Zhang, G.Jia, B.Zhang, S.Wang, W.Zhong, Z.Zhao, J.Zhang. *Fuel Process. Technol.*, **254**, 108046 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUPROC.2024.108046
- 344. T.Čai, D.Zhao, Y.Sun, S.Ni, W.Li, D.Guan, B.Wang. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, **145**, 111150 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.111150
- 345. T.Xuan, Z.Sun, A.I.EL-Seesy, Y.Mi, W.Zhong, Z.He, Q.Wang, J.Sun, H.M.El-Batsh, J.Cao. *Energy*, **227**, 120543 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.120543
- 346. Z.Li, Y.Wang, H.Geng, X.Zhen, M.Liu, S.Xu, C.Li. *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, **163**, 114234 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2019.114234

- 347. Y.Wenming, Y.Meng. *Energy*, **187**, 115958 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.115958
- 348. S.S.Yang, Ö.L.Gülder. *Combust. Flame*, **225**, 39 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.combustflame.2020.10.032
- 349. S.S.Yang, Ö.L.Gülder. Combust. Flame, 227, 1 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.combustflame.2020.12.039
- 350. J.Zhang, F.Yan, Y.Wang. Fuel, 333 (P1), 126321 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.126321
- F.Viteri, S.Gracia, Millera, R.Bilbao, M.U.Alzueta. Fuel, 197, 348 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2017.02.026
- 352. F.Yan, X.Cheng, L.Qiu, R.Huang, S.Huang, B.Liu. J. Energy Inst., 90 (6), 855 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joei.2016.08.009
- 353. H.Liu, M.Huo, Y.Liu, X.Wang, H.Wang, M.Yao, C.F.F.Lee.
 Fuel, 133, 317 (2014);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.05.038
 354. M.Nowakowska, O.Herbinet, A.Dufour, P.A.Glaude. *Combust. Flame*, **161** (6), 1474 (2014);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.combustflame.2013.11.024
 355. M.N.Al Shebli, A.Raj, M.Elkadi, D.Anjum, G.D.J.Pena, A.Prabhu. *Fuel*, **324** (PA), 124562 (2022);
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124562
- 356. Y.Zhang, A.Jiao, Y.Li, P.Liu, G.Yang, R.Zhan, W.L.Roberts, Z.Huang, H.Lin. Fuel, **303**, 121255 (2021);
- https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.121255 357. R.M.Fedorenko, L.S.Yanovsky, P.A.Strizhak. *Fuel*, **396**, 135344 (2025); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2025.135344
- S.Das, A.Chowdhury. *Energy Nexus*, 10, 100204 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nexus.2023.100204
- F.K.Forson, E.K.Oduro, E.Hammond-Donkoh. *Renew. Energy*, 29 (7), 1135 (2004);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2003.11.002
- A.Monyem, J.H.Van Gerpen. *Biomass Bioenergy*, **20** (4), 317 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(00)00095-7
- 361. R.O.Dunn, M.W.Shockley, M.O.Bagby. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 73 (12), 1719 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02517978
- 362. GOST R 53605-2009 (EN 14214:2003). Toplivo dlya Dvigatelei Vnutrennego Sgoraniya. Metilovye Efiry Zhirnykh Kislot (FAME) dlya Dizel'nykh Dvigateley. Obshchie Tekhnicheskie Trebovaniya. (Fuels for Internal Combustion Engines. Fatty acid Methyl Esters (FAME) for Diesel Engines. General Specifications). (Moscow: Standartinform, 2010)
- 363. GOST 33131-2014 Smesi Biodizel'nogo Topliva (B6-B20). Tekhnicheskie Trebovaniya. (Biodiesel Fuel Blends (B6-B20) Technical Requirements). (Moscow: Standartinform, 2014)
- S.Schober, M.Mittelbach. *Lipid Technol.*, **19** (12), 281 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/lite.200700091
- C.L.Peterson, D.L.Auld, R.A.Korus. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 60 (8), 1579 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02666589
- G.Karavalakis, D.Karonis, S.Stournas. SAE Int. J. Fuels Lubr., 2 (1), 839 (2009); https://doi.org/10.4271/2009-01-1828
- B.Kegl, A.Hribernik. *Energy Fuels*, **20** (5), 2239 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ef060285m
- A.L.Boehman, D.Morris, J.Szybist, E.Esen. *Energy Fuels*, 18 (6), 1877 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/ef049880j
- 369. M.S.Grabowski, R.McCormick, T.L.Alleman, A.M.Herring. The Effect of Biodiesel Composition on Engine Emissions from a DDC Series 60 Diesel Engine: Final Report; Report 2 in a Series of 6. (Golden, Colorado: National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2003)
- 370. A.M.A.Attia, A.E.Hassaneen. *Fuel*, **167**, 316 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2015.11.064
- P.Tan, D.Lou, Z.Hu. SAE Technical Papers. 2010-01-0787 (2010); https://doi.org/10.4271/2010-01-0787
- K.Muralidharan, D.Vasudevan, K.N.Sheeba. *Energy*, **36** (8), 5385 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2011.06.050
- 373. M.J.Abedin, H.H.Masjuki, M.A.Kalam, A.Sanjid, S.M.A.Rahman, I.M.R.Fattah. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **59**, 96 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.05.001

- 374. J.E.Labs, T.E.Parker. Combust. Sci. Technol., 179 (6), 1159 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1080/00102200600976859
- 375. GOST 10227-2013. Topliva dlya Reaktivnykh Dvigatelei. Tekhnicheskie Usloviya. (Jet Fuels. Specifications). (Moscow: Standartinform, 2013)
- 376. P.Kurzawska-Pietrowicz. *Transp. Res. Procedia*, **75**, 77 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2023.12.010
- 377. GOST 10227-86. Topliva dlya Reaktivnykh Dvigatelei. Tekhnicheskie Usloviya. (Jet Fuels. Specifications). (Moscow: Standartinform, 1987)
- C.J.Chuck, J.Donnelly. *Appl. Energy*, **118**, 83 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.12.019
- 379. C.Zhang, X.Hui, Y.Lin, C.J.Sung. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 54, 120 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.056
- M.A.Ershov, V.D.Savelenko, N.O.Burov, U.A.Makhova, D.Y.Mukhina, D.R.Aleksanyan, V.M.Kapustin, M.M.Lobashova, A.V.Sereda, T.M.M.Abdellatief, A.Baroutaji, M.A.Abdelkareem. *Energy*, 280, 128156 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2023.128156
- 381. U.A.Makhova, M.A.Ershov, A.V.Ilin, V.D.Savelenko, N.O.Burov, M.M.Lobashova, E.A.Sharin, A.A.Shevtsov, A.O.Vikhritskaya, V.M.Kapustin, T.M.M.Abdellatief. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.*, **188**, 905 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2024.05.144
- M.A.Ershov, V.D.Savelenko, U.A.Makhova, V.M.Kapustin, T.M.M.Abdellatief, N.V.Karpov, E.V.Dutlov, D.V.Borisanov. *Fuel*, **321**, 124016 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124016
- 383. M.A.Ershov, V.D.Savelenko, N.S.Shvedova, V.M.Kapustin, T.M.M.Abdellatief, N.V.Karpov, E.V.Dutlov, D.V.Borisanov. *Fuel*, **322**, 124209 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124209
- 384. E.S.Rekhletskaya, M.A.Ershov, V.D.Savelenko, A.E.Makhmudova, V.M.Kapustin, T.M.M.Abdellatief, D.A.Potanin, V.A.Smirnov, T.Geng, M.Ali Abdelkareem, A.G.Olabi. *Energy Fuels*, **36** (19), 11829 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.2c01973
- N.O.Burov, V.D.Savelenko, M.A.Ershov, A.O.Vikhritskaya, E.O.Tikhomirova, N.A.Klimov, V.M.Kapustin, E.A.Chernysheva, A.V.Sereda, T.M.M.Abdellatief, M.Ramadan, M.Ali Abdelkareem. *Renew. Energy*, 215, 118898 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2023.06.019
- 386. X.Wang, T.Jia, L.Pan, Q.Liu, Y.Fang, J.J.Zou, X.Zhang. *Trans. Tianjin Univ.*, **27** (2), 87 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1007/s12209-020-00273-5
- M.Mohammad, T.Kandaramath Hari, Z.Yaakob, Y.Chandra Sharma, K.Sopian. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 22, 121 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.01.026
- V.Y.Lee, S.Miyazaki, H.Yasuda, A.Sekiguchi. *Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.*, **186** (6), 1346 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1080/10426507.2010.543102
- 389. M.Braun-Unkhoff, T.Kathrotia, B.Rauch, U.Riedel. CEAS Aeronaut. J., 7 (1), 83 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1007/s13272-015-0178-8
- 390. E.Corporan, T.E.L.Shafer, M.J.DeWitt, C.Klingshirn, S.Zabarnick, Z.West, R.Striebich, J.Graham, J.Klein. *Energy Fuels*, 25 (3), 955 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ef101520v
- 391. W.A.Affens, J.M.Hall, S.Holt, R.N.Hazlett. *Fuel*, **63** (4), 543 (1984); https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-2361(84)90294-1
- 392. E.E.Elmalik, B.Raza, S.Warrag, H.Ramadhan, E.Alborzi, N.O.Elbashir. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 53, 1856 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie402486c
- 393. A.F.Alhikami, W.C.Wang. Fuel, 283, 119286 (2021)
- 394. H.C.Hsieh, X.X.Chen, A.Faruq Alhikami, W.C.Wang. *Fuel*, 291, 120212 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.120212
- A.Savel'ev, V.Savelieva, N.S.Titova, S.A.Torokhov, V.Kozlov. *Goren. Vzryv.*, 14 (4), 82 (2021); https://doi.org/10.30826/CE21140408

- 396. U.Neuling, M.Kaltschmitt. In *Biokerosene Status Prospect*. (Berlin: Springer, 2017). P. 475; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53065-8_19
- L.Šindelářová, E.N.Luu, P.Vozka. J. Chromatogr. Open, 2, 100068 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCOA.2022.100068
- J.H.Oh, A.Oldani, A.Solecki, T.Lee. *Fuel*, **356**, 129508 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2023.129508
- 399. P.Vozka, G.Kilaz. Fuel, 268, 117391 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.117391
- 400. Y.Shen, F.Li, Z.Liu, H.Wang, J.Shen. J. Energy Inst., 92 (5), 1458 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOEI.2018.08.005
- 401. T.Xie, C.T.Chong, S.Wang, T.Seljak, J.-H.Ng, M.-V.Tran, S.Karmakar, B.Tian. *Fuel*, **321**, 124052 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.124052 402. A.Ashikhmin, D.Verkhodanov, M.Piskunov, P.Strizhak. *Waste Biomass Valor.*, (2024);
- https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-024-02706-x 403. A.Santhoshkumar, V.Thangarasu, R.Anand. In *Advanced Biofuels*. (Elsevier, 2019). P. 291; https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102791-2.00012-X
- 404. GlobalPetrolPrices.com. *Diesel Prices*. TheGlobalEconomy. com; https://www.globalpetrolprices.com/data_download.php
- 405. D.V.Antonov, R.E.Cherkasov, V.V.Gneusheva, M.E.Mikulich, P.A.Strizhak, L.S.Yanovskiy. *Energy*, 313, 133870 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2024.133870
- 406. R.H.Sundararaj, T.C.Sekar, R.Arora, A.Kushari. *Aerosp. Sci. Technol.*, **116**, 106844 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ast.2021.106844 407. B.A.Oni, S.E.Sanni, A.J.Ibegbu, O.S.Tomomewo. *Renew. Energy*, **216**, 119134 (2023);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2023.119134 408. V.V.Rastopchin, A.S.Kirpichev, S.M.Kalenskii. *Naukoem. Tekhnol.*, **9**, 59 (2008)
- 409. X.Wu, X.Hu, X.Xiang, S.Lin, J.You, F.Tian. *Case Stud. Therm. Eng.*, 49, 103305 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csite.2023.103305
- D.S.Romanov, V.V.Dorokhov, K.Y.Vershinina, P.A.Strizhak. *Fuel*, **356**, 129560 (2024); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2023.129560